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About 8VI Holdings Limited 
8VI Holdings Limited (“8VI”) is a Singapore-based FinEduTech company operating under the brand name VI. 
 
Established in 2008, VI is the representation of our beliefs and roots in Value Investing and empowers the average man-on-
the-street to achieve sustainable wealth as part of their mission to make investments smarter, faster and easier. 
 
VI App, a unique, proprietary stock analysis tool developed through 8BIT Global Pte Ltd (“8BIT”), crunches traditional financial 
data and simplifies the complex stock analysis and decision-making process for equity investors into easy-to-use visuals under 
a comprehensive framework. As a licensed Financial Adviser approved by the Monetary Authority of Singapore, 8BIT provides 
financial advice concerning securities and units in collective investment scheme through research analyses and research 
reports, through VI App. 
 
With numerous offices across the Asia Pacific region, VI College supports a community of graduates and value investors from 
29 cities globally through its flagship “VI Bootcamp” and other programmes. As the region’s leading FinEduTech provider, VI 
College leverages the power of technology and transforms the perception and application of value investing. 
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ARBN 605 944 198 

 
 
RESULTS FOR ANNOUNCEMENT TO THE MARKET (ASX APPENDIX 4E) 
For the financial year from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021 
 
 
RESULTS FOR ANNOUNCEMENT TO THE MARKET 
(All comparisons to financial year ended 31 March 2020) 
 
 

 S$ Up/Down % Movement 
    
Revenue  

from ordinary activities 25,960,661 Up 139% 
Profit after tax  

from ordinary activities attributable to members 5,861,405 Up 447% 
Net profit  

attributable to members 5,861,405 Up 447% 
 
 
EXPLANATION FOR REVENUE FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES, PROFIT AFTER TAX FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 
AND NET PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO MEMBERS 
 
The increase in revenue from ordinary activities, profit after tax from ordinary activities and net profit 
attributable to members is attributable to the FinEduTech business that successfully transformed in response to 
changing consumption habits as global audience adjusts to the new normal.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
Dividend information 

 
Amount per 

share 
(Singapore 

cent) 

Franked 
amount per 

share 
(Singapore 

cent) 

 
 
 

Tax rate for 
franking credit 

    
Final FY2021 dividend per share 
   

NIL NIL NIL 

 
  31.3.2021 31.3.2020 
    
Net tangible assets per security  S$0.26 S$0.11 

 
 
 
This information should be read in conjunction with the FY2021 Annual Financial Report of 8VI Holdings Limited 
and its subsidiaries and any public announcements made in the period by 8VI Holdings Limited in accordance 
with the continuous disclosure requirements of the Companies Act (Chapter 50) and Listing Rules. 
 
Additional Appendix 4E disclosure requirements can be found in the Directors’ statement and the consolidated 
financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2021. 
 
This report is based on the consolidated financial statements which have been audited by KLP LLP.  
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Operations and Financials Update 
Financial Year 2021 
   

  I 8VI Holdings Limited   
and its subsidiaries 
 

Overview 
 
FY2021 has undoubtedly been another eventful 
year in 8VI’s journey since we embarked on our 
digital transformation. We have not only 
successfully circumvented the traditional earning 
challenges and limitations of a conventional 
education and training business in record time, 
but we have also rewritten records in terms of our 
progress – both operationally and financially. 
 
 

FY2021 in review 
 
Following the successful implementation of our 3-
year transformation plan in FY2019, we are today 
operating on a model where more than 90% of our 
operations are held online. In FY2021, we worked 
to further refine our strategy to ensure we enjoy 
economies of scale while keeping an eye on costs 
and cashflow against the backdrop of our broader 
macro-environment. 
 
As a result, the Group recorded revenue of S$26.0 
million in FY2021 as compared to S$10.9 million in 
the corresponding period in the previous year 
(FY2020), representing a growth of 139.1% with 
expanded Gross Profit and Net Profit Margins. Of 
which, 29% of our revenue is recurring, a 
significant improvement from the 20.5% in FY2020, 
which is a strong testament to our successful 
acquisition and retention strategies.  
 

  
 

 FY2021 FY2020 Movement 
EBITDA S$9.5m S$2.7m 247% 
GP Margin 77% 73% 6% 
NP Margin 25% 7% 249% 

 
We recorded EBITDA of S$9.5 million in FY2021, 
which represented a 246.7% jump as compared to 
the S$2.7 million reported in the previous year and 
EBITDA margin of 36.5%. Accordingly, our net 
profit after tax attributable to owners of the 
company soared 446.7% to S$5.9 million over 
S$1.1 million in the corresponding period in 
FY2020.  
 
With a revenue growth of 139.1% achieved in 
FY2021, accompanied by an EBITDA margin of 
36.5%, we have also exceeded the Rule of 40, a 
performance metric commonly used for fast-
growing technology companies, by 4-fold. 
Testament to 8VI’s transformation strategy, the 
Group has grown its EBITDA at a faster pace than 
revenue, thus achieving operating leverage in 
FY2021. 
 
In FY2021, we maintained a strong financial 
position with cash and cash equivalents as well as 
short term liquid assets totalling S$22.2 million, as 
compared to S$7.8 million in FY2020, and 
remained at zero debt with S$9.8 million unearned 
revenue to be recognised.  
 

32.9%

60.1%

FY2020 FY2021

Free Cash Flow Margin

Free Cash Flow Margin

7.2%

25.0%

FY2020 FY2021

Net Profit Margin

Net Profit Margin

72.8%

77.3%

FY2020 FY2021

Gross Profit Margin

Gross Profit Margin
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Operations and Financials Update 
Financial Year 2021 
   

  II 8VI Holdings Limited   
and its subsidiaries 
 

 
 

Cash receipts from customers have increased 
significantly over the last nine quarters. Cash 
receipts from customers for fourth quarter FY2021 
were S$10.7 million, up 118% as compared to 
S$4.9 million in fourth quarter FY2020. 
  
Cash flow from operations have increased 
significantly to S$16.8 million compared to S$3.9 
million in FY2020, while free cash flow stands at 
S$15.6 million, a jump from S$3.6 million in 
FY2020. This was attributable to improved 
performances across both our Financial Education 
and FinTech segments.  
 
We also made a significant breakthrough this year 
with VI App, developed through 8BIT Global Pte 
Ltd (8BIT), which garnered regulatory clearance as 
a Licensed Financial Adviser approved by the 
Monetary Authority of Singapore.  This means we 
can provide financial advice around securities and 
units in collective investment schemes through 
research analyses and research reports via VI App. 
 
The license enables us to demonstrate more 
conviction on our data and put forward detailed 
recommendations based on VI Analysis, our 
proprietary rating system. The system allows our 
users to immediately verify the soundness of the 
target company’s financials and show how 
valuations are derived. These features are 
designed to aid overall investor confidence in 
making smarter, faster and easier investment 
decisions. 

Adding breadth and depth to our 
acquisition, retention, and 
technology development efforts 

 
i. Acquisition 
 
The ability to generate a unique and robust 
content flow remains key to how we acquire 
potential graduates, which entails planning, 
creating and deploying content across various 
platforms to build engagement and feature the 
new additions to our educational programmes.  
 
This year, we have broadened our content 
creation efforts on many levels and across regions 
to ensure we reach a wider audience set and 
engage with them in more meaningful ways and in 
localised contexts, whilst building awareness for 
our brand. 
 
By ensuring a robust content calendar and 
leveraging our owned social channels, we have 
extended our reach across borders both in 
Malaysia and Singapore through targeted, 
language-specific content. Following our success 
in Malaysia in reducing the reliance on direct 
marketing, we have replicated the same approach 
in Singapore by assembling a dedicated team that 
is responsible for content planning, creation and 
implementation. 
 
From an acquisition perspective, we are also 
seeing the benefits of the network effort from the 
ecosystem. This network effect is a result of the 
virtuous cycle that originates from the content 
that we generate, which is then shared across 
various platforms to build engagement across 
languages and broaden our reach across borders 
to grow our community and followers.  As a result, 
there are deeper opportunities within our 
ecosystem to drive collaboration through third-
party partnerships with financial services agents, 
brokerages and financial planners. This not only 
effectively expands our service base and offerings 
to our existing graduates and community, but also 
contributes to how we can attract new, potential 
graduates.  
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Operations and Financials Update 
Financial Year 2021 
   

  III 8VI Holdings Limited   
and its subsidiaries 
 

Our success in acquisition is based on monthly 
growth in users and subscribers, as well as growth 
in Annual Recurring Revenue (ARR); both of which 
have increased on healthy levels in FY2021. We 
have also seen overall growth in our Total Number 
of Graduates of 450% at 25,926 pax in FY2021, 
Total User Growth Rates of 207% as well as 
Subscriber Growth Rates of 189% in the last 
twelve months, which is testament to our 
successful acquisition model. While we have seen 
our percentage growth in the past year stabilise 
over the course of the year, our growth in terms of 
absolute numbers have actually grown 
significantly. The success of various programmes 
such as our flagship VI Bootcamp reflects the 
success of our strategy, as these continue to grow 
in popularity and take up. 
 

ii. Retention 
 
In the past year, we have been building retention 
amongst our graduates by bringing a customer-
centric culture and mindset to the table, which in 
turn enables us to create entire lifetime value. 
Through the use of our planned CRM system to 
mine data analytics, we see long-term potential to 
build on our insights to improve the entire 
experience for our graduates. Once complete, our 
CRM system will build, link and leverage data to 
optimise both our operations and our product and 
programme offerings with the appropriate 
business intelligence. The system is currently 
being implemented and is expected to be 
completed in phases over the next year. 
 
We also practice active engagement and content 
building via our VI Social Bubble, while providing 
content and support highly received in the form of 
VI Coaching Sessions and VI Resources for flagship 
programme graduates. We have expanded our 
library of VI Resources this year as well across 
English, Malay and both Simplified and Traditional 
Chinese languages, with content to ensure that we 
continue to promote knowledge sharing and 
exchange amongst our community.  
 
Our retention success rates are measured via 
performance metrics such as the Page View 
Growth Rate, equivalent to the number of average 
page views on our website, which continues on a 

healthy growth in FY2021. We also measure 
success via our overall participation in VI Coaching 
viewership and participation, which has also been 
gaining momentum in the past year. For example, 
VI Coaching sessions in English have grown at a 
rate of 202% since its inception in May 2020 till 
March 2021. 
 
iii. Technology Development 
 
This year, we have continued to develop existing 
and new features on VI App that are designed to 
enhance the overall experience.  
 
In relation to the AI and machine learning (ML) 
aspects, we are already in the process of 
establishing a team of data science engineers 
focusing on enhancing various features within the 
VI App. The team will focus on using various ML 
techniques, working closely with our community 
managers and business analysts, to enhance 
existing features and possibly discover new 
features.  
 
Some of the planned upcoming enhancements 
and premium features within VI App include: 
 
“Enhanced Peers” feature which allows better 
identification of peer companies so as to unearth 
other opportunities that are in the same business: 
 
“Dynamic News Feed” feature, which presents 
relevant social news that matters and is aligned with 
the user behavioural patterns; 
 
“Intelligent Alerts” which generates relevant 
notifications and deemed important based on the 
user profile; 
 
“VI Score” which complements the Screener and 
Peer Comparison modules in VI App, while ranking 
the quality of a company based on historical financial 
and price-performance, ranking companies based on 
their quality for research prioritisation; as well as 
 
“Guru Bubble” where a Watchlist is linked to a Social 
Bubble under a specific theme with a community 
built around the bubbles which encourages learning 
and discussion of specific strategies within the 
Bubble. 
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Operations and Financials Update 
Financial Year 2021 
   

  IV 8VI Holdings Limited   
and its subsidiaries 
 

All these will not only improve user experiences but 
also allow users to quickly discover new perspectives 
in their investment journeys. These exciting 
developments are testament to our core 
capabilities as a technology company that 
integrates our loves for finance and education, as 
well as one that constantly seeks to stay ahead of 
the curve as we code for a smarter future.  
 
 

Growing our recurring revenue 
model  
 
VI App, coupled with VI College, is a cohesive 
ecosystem which is designed to make investments 
Smarter, Faster and Easier and without borders. 
Our value proposition is crystal clear: users can 
Analyse, Learn and Connect on all levels of smart 
investing using one single tool. 
 
We leverage the unit economics of our unique 
business model, where unlike other technology 
start-ups that invest heavily in acquiring users 
through cash, our entry-level product range 
already covers our cost of acquiring a new 
potential graduate. As such, we are witnessing 
amplified benefits where all additional spending 
translates into positive impact on our margins, 
which we intend to re-invest into our growth plans. 
Coupled with our prudent cashflow management 
despite the pandemic, we aim to similarly 
establish our 80:20 model here as well in the long 
run – to have 80% of our revenue on a recurring 
basis.  
 
With our digital transformation complete, we are 
doing ever more with ever less as a result of our 
technological capabilities. Ongoing digitalisation 
has further catalysed the changes and pace of 
change as compared to the conventional ways of 
operating. By integrating our signature programs 
with the subscription to our VI platform, we have 
achieved a massive breakthrough in the way our 
company grows and generates high-quality 
recurring revenue and positive cashflow.  
 

Cementing our position in core 
markets 
 
Today, we operate in highly successful and well-
adapted English, Chinese and Malay language-
speaking markets, with our operations in 
Singapore, Malaysia, Shanghai and Taiwan. In 
these markets, we have a physical presence while 
operating almost solely through online channels. 
Our geographical revenue also represents one of 
our 80:20 strategies, where we hope to work 
towards having 80% of our revenue outside of 
Singapore. 
 
In FY2021, Malaysia accounted for 40% of our 
revenue, whilst another 20% comprised 
international income – a combination of revenue 
from other markets and our VI App subscriptions. 
Our Singapore revenue contribution stood at 40% 
meanwhile.  
 
Malaysia remains a significant, addressable 
growth market of focus and together with Taiwan, 
continued to generate positive growth in FY2021. 
Malaysia has always been an important market for 
us with its large, multi-language population, and 
represents a much deeper market where we can 
capture new opportunities. Here, we are 
developing the market through bespoke content 
and learning materials catered according to local 
language and demographics, such as Shariah-
compliant investing. 
 
We have seen good traction in our Taiwan market 
to date, which is now operating independently 
with positive growth. On the whole, Taiwan is a 
more mature market which offers healthy 
potential as the local audiences are well exposed 
to investment-related topics and more receptive 
towards personal development programmes. The 
focus will therefore be to grow our presence and 
brand in the region with outreach activities and 
engaging social media content to reach Taiwan’s 
local audiences. 
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Operations and Financials Update 
Financial Year 2021 
   

  V 8VI Holdings Limited   
and its subsidiaries 
 

Key to future growth: investing in 
digitalisation & talent, expanding 
our addressable market and new 
products in the regulated space 
 
We have witnessed a major structural shift in 
many industries, including ours, and in how we 
work amidst the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. To 
adapt ourselves to these changes, we intend to 
invest heavily in a few key areas.  
 
• Investing for a smarter future – 

digitalisation & talent 
 
We will be working towards progressive 
automation of our operational processes and a 
data-driven approach to analytics to enable us to 
achieve the best business results and optimize 
business decisions on the backend. In the course 
of doing so, we also plan to digitalise more 
programmes and integrate these programmes 
onto our VI App platform going forward. 
 
We also plan to digitalise more specific aspects of 
our programmes going forward, for instance, for 
our participants in our VI Bootcamp, Full Edition 
programme (VIB FE). Within the simulated 
investing games offered in VIB FE, we are 
automating and incorporating the game portal 
into the VI App to enable more hands-on 
participation from participants and involve less 
manual facilitation and intervention from our 
team members. 
 
This year, we set up our broadcasting studios in 
Singapore and Malaysia for the production of 
digital content to serve this purpose. As a 
borderless working culture becomes the new 
norm, our broadcasting studios are also outfitted 
with the requisite capabilities to host large scale 
events that transcend borders, such as our recent 
VI Summit 2021, which saw approximately 3,500 
members in attendance – our largest VI Summit 
event to date. 
 
Our 80:20 rule also applies to our ways of working, 
where 80% of our operations will be digital going 
forward. With work-from-home (WFH) practices 

here to stay, we have equipped our employees 
with the right infrastructure, hardware and 
software setups to ensure we are ready to tackle 
hybrid working arrangements. In the coming year, 
we will be looking to invest in a new space for our 
talents to come together to build a stronger brand 
and culture for the Group and team, ensuring that 
we are on the front foot and ready to face any 
challenges at any given time. In addition, we have 
also expanded our training and development 
budget so that our team members can benefit 
from continuous learning. 
 
Last year, we grew our development team to be 
the largest component within the Group as part of 
our expansion plans. Going forward, we plan to 
invest a significant amount of our resources and 
costs into diversifying our human capital in various 
aspects, in order to find the right talent to 
strengthen our position in technology. Our quest 
to acquire talented individuals in the fields that 
support our growth plans is expected to accelerate 
further in the coming years, as we focus on 
acquiring the right skillsets in these areas. We are 
constantly looking for subject matter experts who 
have a passion for all things FinEduTech to join us 
on our exciting growth journey. 
 
• Expanding our addressable market 
 

As we look at the total addressable market 
(TAM) for asset and wealth management in the 
coming years, there is immense potential to be 
tapped. Amongst three core segments of the TAM 
comprising “Do It Myself”, “Do It With Me” and 
“Do It For Me” groups, we have identified a core 
group of target users, whom we call the ‘Do It With 
Me’ group, that we want to engage with at this 
stage.  

These individuals are straddling the Millennial and 
Gen X ages of between 25 – 55 years of age, who 
would be keen to learn how to invest, and are 
willing to pay for a service that can offer coaching, 
ongoing support and case studies. They would also 
be the ones to use VI Analysis to make informed 
investment decisions. 
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Operations and Financials Update 
Financial Year 2021 
   

  VI 8VI Holdings Limited   
and its subsidiaries 
 

In the longer-term future, we will also be keen to 
look at the “Do It For Me” group of users and ways 
to engage with them through more offerings on 
our platform.  These are individuals who 
appreciate our investment philosophies and the 
learning offered through our programmes and 
resources, but still prefer to have a representative 
who will manage and invest on their behalf – a role 
which we can work towards fulfilling. 
 
As part of our growth strategy, we hope to be able 
to cast our net wider to attract more potential VI 
App users. These could be avid, mass-market 
investors who may primarily choose to tap on the 
convenience of a generic, user-friendly version of 
our app for smarter, faster, easier investing. At the 
same time, we would also look at ways to expand 
VI College’s business model laterally with new 
offerings to extend the value chain for our existing 
and new customer base. 
 
• Positioned to offer more regulated 

products and services  
 
Having secured 8BIT’s license to provide financial 
advice around securities and units in collective 
investment schemes through research analyses 
and research reports via VI App, we believe we are 
in a position to explore offering more of such 
regulated products and services that are 
complementary to our existing FinEduTech 
business.  
 
Tapping on our capabilities in using data, analytics 
and AI to analyse our users, incorporate risk 
assessment and better understand our users’ 
investment styles, we plan to integrate 
complementary financial services on our VI App 
platform where we see synergies and value-add to 
our community. By making inroads into these 
types of regulated services, we believe we can 
further raise our competitive edge in the long-
term by extending our position on the value chain 
– all towards our ultimate goal of building a 
smarter future for our community. 
 
 

Towards a smarter future 
 
Having emerged stronger through the disruption a 
year ago, we are set up and ready to face any 
upcoming challenges whenever they arise. The 
resilience, nimbleness and flexibility that we have 
developed through weathering past challenges 
will equip us well to handle oncoming ones.  
 
In the coming year, we will be looking at ways to 
further raise our corporate profile so as to attract 
new opportunities within various markets. In line 
with these efforts, we will be exploring ways to 
improve the liquidity of our counter, which may 
result in certain shareholders realising a portion of 
their investment in order to create the necessary 
headroom for potential new investors. We believe 
this is an opportune and appropriate time to 
embark on this as we ready 8VI for the next 
growth phase. 
 
Meanwhile, we will continue to sharpen our 
competitive edge on our Investment Intelligence 
as a Service (IIAAS) model – leveraging AI, big data 
analytics and machine-learning, sharing investing 
knowledge and empowering better investment 
decisions, and ultimately generating alpha for our 
investors.   
  
We intend to remain laser-focused on building a 
smarter future with our growth initiatives and we 
are confident that the strong foundation that we 
have put in place enables us to strengthen our 
FinEduTech platform further for the next decade. 
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GENERAL INFORMATION 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2021 
 

1 
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2021 
 

2 
 

The directors are pleased to present their statement to the members together with the audited consolidated 
financial statements of 8VI Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and the 
statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 
31 March 2021.  
 
 
1. Opinion of the directors 
  

In the opinion of the directors, 
 
(a) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and 

statement of changes in equity of the Company are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of 
the financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 March 2021 and the financial 
performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company 
for the year ended on that date, and 
 

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be 
able to pay its debts as and when they fall due. 

 
 
2. Directors 
 

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are: 
 

Clive Tan Che Koon 
Pauline Teo Puay Lin  
Chee Kuan Tat, Ken 
Charles Mac 
 
 

3. Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares or debentures 
 
Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any 
arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to 
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or options in, or debentures of, the Company or 
any other body corporate. 
 
 

4. Directors’ interests in shares or debentures 
 

(a)  According to the register of directors’ shareholdings kept by the Company under section 164 of the 
Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”), the directors of the Company who held office at 
the end of the financial year had no interests in the shares or debentures of the Company and its 
related corporations except as stated below: 
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2021 
 

3 
 

4. Directors’ interests in shares or debentures (continued) 
 

 Holdings registered in name of 
director or nominee 

 At 31.3.2021 At 1.4.2020 
Holding Company, 8I Holdings Limited   
  (No. of ordinary shares)   
Clive Tan Che Koon 65,140,000 65,140,000 
Pauline Teo Puay Lin 8,859,103 8,859,103 
Chee Kuan Tat, Ken 86,885,009 86,684,792 
   
The Company, 8VI Holdings Limited   
  (No. of ordinary shares)   
Clive Tan Che Koon 200,000 - 
Pauline Teo Puay Lin 184,943 - 
Chee Kuan Tat, Ken 400,000 - 

 
(b) According to the register od director’s shareholdings, certain directors holding office at the end of the 

financial year had interests in performance rights and options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the 
Company, granted pursuant to the Company’s Employee Securities Incentive Plan set out below and 
under “Rights and Share Options” below:  

 
 No. of unissued ordinary shares under 

performance rights and options 
 At 31.3.2021 At 1.4.2020 

8VI Holdings Limited   
Clive Tan Che Koon and Pauline Teo Puay Lin   
Class C Performance Rights 100,000 - 
Class D Performance Rights 100,000 - 
Class E Performance Rights 125,000 - 
Class F Performance Rights 125,000 - 
Options 500,000 - 
   
Chee Kuan Tat, Ken   
Class C Performance Rights 200,000 - 
Class D Performance Rights 200,000 - 
Class E Performance Rights 250,000 - 
Class F Performance Rights 250,000 - 
Options 1,000,000 - 

 
(c) Chee Kuan Tat, Ken, who by virtue of his interest of not less than 20% of the issued capital of the 

holding company, is deemed to have an interest in the share capital of the Company.  
 
(d) The directors’ interests in the ordinary shares and convertible securities of the Company as at 21 April 

2021 were the same as those as at 31 March 2021.  
 
 

5. Rights and share options 
 
(a) Employee Securities Incentive Plan  
  

The Company’s Employee Securities Incentive Plan (“Share Plan”) for key directors and employees of 
the Group was approved by members of the Company as its annual general meeting on 23 July 2020. 
The Share Plan provides a means to attract, motivate and retain key directors and employees and 
provide them with the opportunity to participate in the future growth of the Company.  
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5. Rights and share options (continued) 
 
(a) Employee Securities Incentive Plan (continued) 

 
Under the Share Plan, the board of directors may from time to time determine that a director of the 
companies of the Group, subject to its members’ approval, or an employee may participate in the 
Share Plan to apply for securities on such terms and conditions as the board of directors decides. 
 
The persons to whom the rights and options have been issued have no right to participate by virtue 
of the options in any share issue of any other companies of the Group. The Group has no legal or 
constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the securities in cash. 
 
During the financial year, pursuant to members’ approval at its annual general meeting on 23 July 
2020, the Company granted its directors options to subscribe for 2,000,000 ordinary shares at 
exercise price of AUD 0.45 per share (“Options”) and performance rights to be converted into 
2,600,000 ordinary shares upon meeting the vesting conditions (“Performance Rights”).  
 
The Options are exercisable from 21 August 2020 and expire on 30 June 2025. The total fair value of 
the Options granted was estimated to be AUD 955,600 using the Hoadleys Employee Stock Option 
Model. Details of the Options granted to directors of the Company are as follows: 
 

 No. of unissued ordinary shares of the Company under Options 

Name of director 

Granted in 
financial 

year ended 
31.3.2021 

Aggregated 
granted since 

commencement 
of plan to 
31.3.2021 

Aggregated 
exercised since 

commencement 
of plan to 
31.3.2021 

Aggregate 
outstanding as 
at 31.3.2021 

     
Clive Tan Che Koon 500,000 500,000 - 500,000 
Pauline Teo Puay Lin 500,000 500,000 - 500,000 
Chee Kuan Tat, Ken 1,000,000 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 

 
The Performance Rights will not have consideration on satisfaction of the vesting conditions. The 
vesting conditions for the Performance Rights are: 
- The holder being a director of the Company as at the relevant vesting determination dates 

specified in the table below; and 
- The relevant volume weighted average price (VWAP) of the Company’s shares traded on ASX over 

any 20-day period exceeds the prices specified in the table below. 
 

 Performance Rights granted Vesting conditions  

Performance 
Rights Number 

Effective 
grant date 

Fair value 
per right 

at 
effective 

grant date 
(AUD) 

Earliest vesting 
determination 

date 

VWAP 
Share Price 
condition 

(AUD) Expiry Date 
       
Class A 400,000 23 Jul 2020 0.4675 21 Aug 2020 0.45 30 Apr 2021 
Class B 400,000 23 Jul 2020 0.3813 21 Aug 2020 0.60 30 Apr 2021 
Class C 400,000 23 Jul 2020 0.4037 01 Apr 2021 0.70 30 Apr 2022 
Class D 400,000 23 Jul 2020 0.2016 01 Apr 2021 2.00 30 Apr 2022 
Class E 500,000 23 Jul 2020 0.2570 01 Apr 2022 2.30 30 Apr 2023 
Class F 500,000 23 Jul 2020 0.1389 01 Apr 2022 5.00 30 Apr 2023 
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5. Rights and share options (continued) 

 
(a) Employee Securities Incentive Plan (continued) 

 
The total fair value of the Performance Rights granted was estimated to be AUD 779,590 using the 
Hoadleys Hybrid ESO Model (a Monte Carlo simulation model). Details of the Performance Rights 
granted to directors of the Company are as follows: 

 
 No. of unissued ordinary shares of the Company under Performance Rights 

Name of director 

Granted in 
financial 

year ended 
31.3.2021 

Aggregated 
granted since 

commencement 
of plan to 
31.3.2021 

Aggregated 
exercised since 

commencement 
of plan to 
31.3.2021 

Aggregate 
outstanding as at 

31.3.2021 
     
Clive Tan Che Koon 650,000 650,000 200,000 450,000 
Pauline Teo Puay Lin 650,000 650,000 200,000 450,000 
Chee Kuan Tat, Ken 1,300,000 1,300,000 400,000 900,000 

 
During the financial year, the vesting conditions of the Class A Performance Rights and Class B 
Performance Rights were satisfied and both classes of Performance Rights were converted into 
ordinary shares. Mr Chee received 400,000 ordinary shares while Mr Tan and Ms Teo received 
200,000 ordinary shares respectively from the exercising of their Class A Performance Rights and Class 
B Performance Rights. 

 
(b) Performance Rights and Options outstanding 
 

The number of unissued shares under Performance Rights and Options in relation to the Share Plan 
outstanding at the end of the financial year was as follows: 

 

 

No. of unissued ordinary 
shares under the rights and 

options at 31.3.2021 Exercise price Exercise period 
Performance Rights    
  - Class C 400,000 - 01 Apr 2021 to 30 Apr 2022 
  - Class D 400,000 - 01 Apr 2021 to 30 Apr 2022 
  - Class E 500,000 - 01 Apr 2022 to 30 Apr 2023 
  - Class F 500,000 - 01 Apr 2022 to 30 Apr 2023 
Options 2,000,000 AUD 0.45 21 Aug 2020 to 30 Jun 2025 
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6. Auditor 
 

KLP LLP has expressed its willingness to accept re-appointment as auditor. 
 
 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chee Kuan Tat, Ken  Pauline Teo Puay Lin 
Director  Director 

   
Singapore, 29 May 2021 
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Independent Auditor's Report to the members of 8VI Holdings Limited  
 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of 8VI Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the 
“Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group and the statement of 
financial position of the Company as at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group 
and the statement of changes in equity of the Company for the year then ended, and notes to the financial 
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial 
position of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 
50 (the “Act”) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (FRSs) so as to give a true and fair view of the 
consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Company as at 31 March 2021 and 
of the consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the 
Group and changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date. 
 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate 
Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting 
Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
 
Key audit matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit 
of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is 
provided in that context. 
 
We have fulfilled our responsibilities described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the 
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the 
matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial statements. 
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Independent Auditor's Report to the members of 8VI Holdings Limited  
(continued) 
 
Key audit matters (continued) 
 

Key audit matter in the audit of the Group How our audit addressed the key audit matter 
Intangible assets recognition and measurement 
 
Refer to Note 5 “Intangible assets”, Note 2.6 (b) 
‘Summary of significant accounting policies – intangible 
assets and Note 3.1 (d) “Critical accounting estimates, 
assumptions and judgments” to the consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s intangible assets 
included development software amounting to 
S$790,401 (net of amortisation). 
 
During the year, the Group conducted a continuous 
update on the mobile application for VI App. 
Management applied judgement in identifying which 
functions need updates and expenditure attributable 
to the updates that met the criteria for capitalisation 
under the requirements of accounting standards. 
Factors taken into account by management included 
the Group’s intention, availability of technical, financial 
and other resources and technical ability to complete 
the updates, the likelihood of generating sufficient 
future economic benefits to the Group and its ability to 
measure the expenditure incurred. 
 
We considered such to be a key audit matter because 
of the significance of the costs capitalised and the 
judgement involved in assessing whether the 
capitalisation criteria have been met. 
 

 
 
Our procedures in relation to the Group’s recognition and 
measurement of development software, we: 
 
1. Obtained an understanding and assessing the design 

of the controls in relation to how management 
determined and measured costs that are directly 
attributable to the development activities; 
 

2. Evaluate the nature of the development costs 
incurred that are capitalised into intangible assets; 

 
3. Assessing the reasonableness of the capitalisation 

based on our knowledge of the business and industry.  
 

4. Evaluating the appropriateness of expenses 
capitalised on a sample basis by agreeing the costs to 
internal timesheet and payroll records. 

 
Based on the procedure performed above, we consider 
the costs capitalised to be supportable by available 
evidence. 
 
  

 
Other Information 
 
Management is responsible for other information. The other information comprises the Board of Directors, 
Corporate Governance Report and Directors’ Statement (but does not include the financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon), which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and the other sections 
of the annual report (“the Other Sections”), which are expected to be made available to us after that date.  
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 
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Independent Auditor's Report to the members of 8VI Holdings Limited  
(continued) 
 
Other Information (continued) 
 
When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required 
to communicate the matter to those charged with governance and take appropriate actions in accordance with 
SSAs. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal 
accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from 
unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as 
necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of 
assets. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Company’s internal control. 

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

and related disclosures made by management. 
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Independent Auditor's Report to the members of 8VI Holdings Limited 
(continued) 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit. 

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in 
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those 
subsidiary corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Rochelle Santiago. 

KLP LLP 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 

Singapore, 29 May 2021 
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8VI Holdings Limited and its Subsidiaries 
Annual Report FY2021 

SOFP 
    Group  

 Note   2021    2020  
    S$    S$  

Assets      

Non-current assets      

Property, plant and equipment 4  1,440,868  1,572,875 
Intangible assets 5  799,706  439,744 
Investment in associated company 7  -  - 
Financial assets, at FVOCI 8  7,421  7,443 
Deferred tax assets 18  296,355  264,331 

   2,544,350  2,284,393 
Current assets      

Trade and other receivables 9  1,493,543  1,629,839 
Current tax assets   73,394  91,960 
Prepayment  

 516,048  133,980 
Financial assets, at FVPL 8  3,600,947  402,305 
Fixed deposits 10  100,000  - 
Cash and cash equivalents 10  18,629,229  7,433,590 

   24,413,161  9,691,674 
      

Total assets   26,957,511  11,976,067 
      

Equity and liabilities      

Equity attributable to owners of the Company     

Share capital 11  13,282,193  12,895,103 
Retained earnings/(Accumulated loss)   2,422,799  (3,438,606) 
Foreign currency translation reserve 12  (90,905)  (61,801) 
Employee securities plan reserve 13  278,750  - 
Other reserves 14  (4,481,538)  (4,490,583)  

  11,411,299  4,904,113 
Non-controlling interests  

 876,848  243,255 
Total equity   12,288,147  5,147,368 

      

Current liabilities      

Trade and other payables 15  3,446,851  1,648,235 
Unearned revenue 16  9,521,393  3,845,802 
Lease liabilities  17  798,089  1,146,938 
Provision for income tax  

 591,617  116,150 
   14,357,950  6,757,125 
      

Non-current liabilities      

Unearned revenue 16  233,789  - 
Lease liabilities 17  73,625  67,574 
Deferred tax liabilities 18  4,000  4,000  

  311,414  71,574  
     

Total liabilities   14,669,364  6,828,699 
      

Total equity and liabilities   26,957,511  11,976,067 
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8VI Holdings Limited and its Subsidiaries 
Annual Report FY2021 

 
    Company  

 Note   2021    2020  
    S$    S$  

Assets      

Non-current assets      

Investment in subsidiaries 6  2,568,393  2,568,393 
   2,568,393  2,568,393 

Current assets      

Trade and other receivables 9  2,760  587,747 
Prepayment   18,516  10,093 
Cash and cash equivalents 10  1,574,600  288,525 

   1,595,876  886,365 
      

Total assets   4,164,269  3,454,758 
      

Equity and liabilities      

Equity attributable to owners     

of the Company      

Share capital 11  77,810,264  77,423,174 
Employee securities plan reserve 13  278,750  - 
Accumulated losses   (74,165,691)  (74,075,327) 
Total equity   3,923,323  3,347,847 

      

Current liabilities      

Trade and other payables 15  240,946  90,811 
Unearned revenue 16  -  16,100 
Total liabilities   240,946  106,911 

      

Total equity and liabilities   4,164,269  3,454,758 
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8VI Holdings Limited and its Subsidiaries 
Annual Report FY2021 

 
  Note    2021    2020  

    S$    S$  
      

Revenue 19  25,960,661  10,859,351 
Cost of sales and services  

 (5,894,172)  (2,957,453) 
Gross profit  

 20,066,489  7,901,898 
  

    

Other income 20  1,054,432  236,121 
  

    

Other items of expense  
    

Administrative expenses  
 (5,994,774)  (3,699,332) 

Marketing and other expenses  
 (7,559,680)  (3,352,423) 

Finance costs  
 (33,693)  (81,574) 

      
Share of results of associated companies   -  (135,939) 
      
Profit before tax 21  7,532,774  868,751 
Income tax expense 23  (1,037,169)  (89,330) 
Profit after tax  

 6,495,605  779,421 
      

Other comprehensive (loss)/income:      

Items that may be reclassified subsequently      

to profit or loss      

Foreign currency translation  
 (17,569)  40,922 

   (17,569)  40,922 
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to 

profit or loss 
 

    
Financial assets, at FVOCI 
- Fair value gains/(losses) – equity investments 

 
 142  (746) 

Other comprehensive (loss)/income, net of tax   (17,427)  40,176 
Total comprehensive income for the year   6,478,178  819,597 

      

Total profit after tax attributable to:      

Owners of the Company   5,861,405  1,072,047 
Non-controlling interests   634,200  (292,626) 

   6,495,605  779,421 

      

Total comprehensive income attributable to:      

Owners of the Company   5,832,443  1,076,357 
Non-controlling interests   645,735  (256,760) 

   6,478,178  819,597 

      

Earnings per share (cents per share) 24     

Basic   14.34  2.64 

Diluted   13.87  2.64 

 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



CO
N

SO
LIDATED STATEM

EN
T O

F CHAN
GES IN

 EQ
U

ITY
 

For the financial year ended 31 M
arch 2021 

 

The accom
panying notes form

 an integral part of these financial statem
ents. 

 14 
 

SO
CE 

 
 

Share 
capital 

Accum
ulated 

profits/ 
(losses) 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

O
ther 

reserves 

Total equity 
to ow

ners of 
the Com

pany 

N
on-

controlling 
interest 

Total equity 

 
 

S$ 
S$ 

S$ 
S$ 

S$ 
S$ 

S$ 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Group 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Balance as at 1 April 2019 

 
12,895,103 

(4,510,653) 
(66,857) 

(4,546,552) 
3,771,041 

303,138 
4,074,179 

Profit/(Loss) for the year 
 

- 
1,072,047 

- 
- 

1,072,047 
(292,626) 

779,421 
O

ther com
prehensive incom

e/(loss), net of tax 
 

- 
- 

5,056 
(746) 

4,310 
35,866 

40,176 
Total com

prehensive incom
e/(loss) for the year 

 
- 

1,072,047 
5,056 

(746) 
1,076,357 

(256,760) 
819,597 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Contributions by and distributions to ow

ners 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

D
ilution of non-controlling interest  

- 
- 

- 
56,715 

56,715 
(64,195) 

(7,480) 
A

cquisition of subsidiaries 
 

- 
- 

- 
- 

- 
261,072 

261,072 
Total transactions w

ith ow
ners in their capacity as 

ow
ners 

 
- 

- 
- 

56,715 
56,715 

196,877 
253,592 

Balance as at 31 M
arch 2020 

 
12,895,103 

(3,438,606) 
(61,801) 

(4,490,583) 
4,904,113 

243,255 
5,147,368 
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Share 
capital 

Accum
ulated 

profits/ 
(losses) 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

Em
ployee 

securities 
plan reserve 

O
ther 

reserves 

Total 
equity to 
ow

ners of 
the 

Com
pany 

N
on-

controlling 
interest 

Total 
equity 

 
 

S$ 
S$ 

S$ 
S$ 

S$ 
S$ 

S$ 
S$ 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Group 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Balance as at 1 April 2020 
 

12,895,103 
(3,438,606) 

(61,801) 
- 

(4,490,583) 
4,904,113 

243,255 
5,147,368 

Profit for the year 
 

- 
5,861,405 

- 
- 

- 
5,861,405 

634,200 
6,495,605 

O
ther com

prehensive incom
e/(loss), net of tax 

 
- 

- 
(29,104) 

- 
142 

(28,962) 
11,535 

(17,427) 
Total com

prehensive incom
e/(loss) for the year 

 
- 

5,861,405 
(29,104) 

- 
142 

5,832,443 
645,735 

6,478,178 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Contributions by and distributions to ow
ners 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Changes in non-controlling interest  
- 

- 
- 

- 
8,903 

8,903 
(12,142) 

(3,239) 
V

alue of em
ployee services 

51,882 
- 

- 
613,958 

- 
665,840 

- 
665,840 

Perform
ance rights exercised

 
 

335,208 
- 

- 
(335,208) 

- 
- 

- 
- 

Total transactions w
ith ow

ners in their capacity 
as ow

ners 
 

387,090 
- 

- 
278,750 

8,903 
674,743 

(12,142) 
662,601 

Balance as at 31 M
arch 2021 

 
13,282,193 

2,422,799 
(90,905) 

278,750 
(4,481,538) 

11,411,299 
876,848 

12,288,147 
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8VI Holdings Limited and its Subsidiaries 
Annual Report FY2021 

 Share  
Employee 
securities  Accumulated Total 

 capital plan reserve losses  equity  

 S$ S$ S$ S$ 

     
Company     
Balance as at 1 April 2019 77,423,174 - (73,618,732) 3,804,442 
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - (456,595) (456,595) 
     
Balance as at 31 March 2020 77,423,174 - (74,075,327) 3,347,847 
     
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - (90,364) (90,364) 
     
Contributions by and distributions to owners     
 Value of employee services 51,882 613,958 - 665,840 
Performance rights exercised 335,208 (335,208) - - 
Total transactions with owners in their capacity 

as owners 387,090 278,750 - 665,840 
Balance as at 31 March 2021 77,810,264 278,750 (74,165,691) 3,923,323 
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SOCF 

 2021  2020 
 S$  S$ 
Cash flows from operating activities    
Profit before tax 7,532,774  868,751 
Adjustments for:    

Amortisation of development of software 313,134  97,967 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,631,297  1,694,801 
Property, plant and equipment written-off 34,936  - 
Finance cost 33,693  81,574 
Impairment of financial assets 175,481  74,635 
Fair value (gain)/loss in financial assets at FVPL (209,138)  4,392 
Gain on disposal of an associate -  (8,121) 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (1,710)  - 
Interest income (37,504)  (12,704) 
Dividend income (9,581)  (6,511) 
Employee share plan expense 665,840  - 
Rent concession (65,191)  - 
Share of results of associated company -  135,939 
Unrealised exchange loss 39,813  34,959 
 10,103,844  2,965,682 

Working capital changes in:    
Trade and other receivables 12,340  (451,537) 
Prepayment (382,068)  45,936 
Trade and other payables 1,642,091  132,933 
Unearned revenue 5,909,380  1,408,402 

Cash generated from operating activities 17,285,587  4,101,416 
Interest income 37,504  12,704 
Dividend income 9,581  6,511 
Income tax paid (579,129)  (191,061) 
Net cash generated from operating activities 16,753,543  3,929,570 
    
Cash flows from investing activities    
Additions to property, plant and equipment (469,283)  (168,815) 
Additions to development of software (673,096)  (188,059) 
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired -  936,828 
Disposal in associated companies -  20,000 
Dilution of non-controlling interest (3,239)  (7,481) 
Investment in financial assets at FVPL (2,987,688)  (226,169) 
Loan to non-related party -  (91,997) 
Placement of fixed deposits (100,000)  - 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  5,995  - 
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities (4,227,311)  274,307 
    
Cash flows from financing activities    
Principal payment of lease liabilities  (1,219,403)  (1,392,434) 
Interest paid (33,693)  (81,574) 
Net cash used in financing activities (1,253,096)  (1,474,008) 
    
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 11,273,136  2,729,869 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of financial year 7,433,590  4,702,031 
Effect of currency translation on cash and cash equivalents (77,497)  1,690 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year (Note 10) 18,629,229  7,433,590 
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These notes form an integral part and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial 
statements. 
 
1. Corporate information 
 
1.1 General 
 

8VI Holdings Limited (the “Company”, formerly known as 8VIC Holdings Limited) is a limited liability 
company incorporated and domiciled in Singapore and is listed on the Australian Securities Exchange 
(ASX). The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is located at 47 Scotts Road 
#03-03/04 Goldbell Towers, Singapore 228233. 
 
The principal activities of the Company are management consultancy services.   
 
The immediate and ultimate holding company is 8I Holdings Limited, which is incorporated and domiciled 
in Singapore and is listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX). 
 
The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 6 to the financial statements. 
 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 
 

2.1 Basis of preparation 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and 
statement of changes in equity of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Financial 
Reporting Standards in Singapore (FRSs), under the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the 
accounting policies below. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires management to exercise its 
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates and assumptions. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or 
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are 
disclosed in Note 3.  
 
The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars (S$). 
 
Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2020 
 
On 1 April 2020, the Group has adopted the new or amended FRSs and Interpretations of FRSs (“INT 
FRSs”) that are mandatory for application for the financial year. Changes to the Group’s accounting 
policies have been made as required, in accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective FRSs 
and INT FRSs.  
 
The adoption of these new or amended FRSs and INT FRSs did not result in substantial changes to the 
Group’s accounting policies and had no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior 
financial years except for the early adoption of amendment to FRS 116 Leases: Covid-19-Related Rent 
Concessions: 
 
Early adoption of amendment to FRS 116 Leases: Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions 

 
The Group has elected to early adopt the amendment to FRS 116 which introduced a practical expedient 
for a lessee to elect not to assess whether a rent concession is a lease modification, if all the following 
conditions are met: 

 
(a) the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the 
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change; 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 
 
Early adoption of amendment to FRS 116 Leases: Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions (continued) 
 
(b) any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and 
 
(c) there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease. 

 
The Group has elected to apply this practical expedient to all property leases. As a result of applying the 
practical expedient, rent concessions of S$65,191 (Note 20) was included in “Government grants” 
presented under “Other income” in the profit or loss during the year. 

 
2.2 Revenue recognition  

 
Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange 
for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third 
parties. 
 
Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised 
good or service to the customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the good or service. A 
performance obligation may be satisfied at a point in time or over time. The amount of revenue 
recognised is the amount allocated to the satisfied performance obligation. 

 
(a) Rendering of services   

The Group provides program sales, events site rental income, digital production and advertising 
income. Revenue is recognised when the services have been performed and rendered.  
 

(b) Commission income 
Commission income is recognised when the corresponding service is provided. 
 

(c) Programme fees  
This comprises of providing financial education and training services. Revenue is recognised when the 
participants attended first day of training. The Company will record contractual liabilities for advance 
payment made for the training.   
 

(d) Interest income 
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.  
 

(e) Dividend income 
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. It is probable that 
the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group, and the amount of the 
dividend can be reliably measured. 
 

(f) Subscription income 
Subscription income is recognised over the subscription period.  

 
2.3  Government grants 

 
Grants from the government are recognised as a receivable at their fair value when there is reasonable 
assurance that the grant will be received and the Group will comply with all the attached conditions. 
 
Government grants received are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with 
the related costs which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Government grants 
relating to expenses are shown separately as other income. 
 
Government grants relating to assets are deducted against the carrying amount of the assets. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.4 Group accounting 
 

(a) Subsidiaries  
 

(i)  Consolidation 
 

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. 
The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns 
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date on that control ceases. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, inter-companies transactions and balances 
and unrealised gains on transactions between group entities are eliminated. Unrealised losses 
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment indicator of the 
transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to 
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 
 
Non-controlling interests comprise the portion of a subsidiary’s net results of operations and 
its net assets, which is attributable to the interests that are not owned directly or indirectly by 
the equity holders of the Company. They are shown separately in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, and consolidated statement of 
financial position. Total comprehensive income is attributed to the non-controlling interests 
based on their respective interests in a subsidiary, even if this results in the non-controlling 
interests having a deficit balance.  
 
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations entered 
into by the Group.  

 
(ii) Acquisitions  

 
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary or business comprises the fair 
value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the 
Group. The consideration transferred also includes any contingent consideration arrangement 
and any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary measured at their fair values at the 
acquisition date.  
 
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.  
 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the 
acquisition date.  
 
On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in 
the acquiree at the date of acquisition either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.  
 
The excess of (a) the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in 
the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree 
over the (b) fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Please 
refer to the paragraph “Intangible assets – Goodwill on acquisitions” for the subsequent 
accounting policy on goodwill. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.4 Group accounting (continued) 
 

(a) Subsidiaries (continued) 
 

(iii)  Disposals 
 
When a change in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary result in a loss of control over 
the subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary including any goodwill are 
derecognised. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of 
that entity are also reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings if 
required by a specific Standard.  
 
Any retained equity interest in the entity is remeasured at fair value. The difference between 
the carrying amount of the retained interest at the date when control is lost and its fair value 
is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
Please refer to the paragraph “Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies” for the 
accounting policy on investments in subsidiaries in the separate financial statements of the 
Company. 
 

(b) Transactions with non-controlling interests  
 
Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control over 
the subsidiary are accounted for as transactions with equity owners of the Company. Any difference 
between the change in the carrying amounts of the non-controlling interest and the fair value of the 
consideration paid or received is recognised within equity attributable to the equity holders of the 
Company. 
 

(c) Associated companies 
 
Associated companies are entities over which the Group has significant influence, but not control, 
generally accompanied by a shareholding giving rise to voting rights of 20% and above but not 
exceeding 50%.  
 
Investments in associated companies is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using 
the equity method of accounting less impairment losses, if any. 
 
(i) Acquisitions  

 
Investments in associated companies is initially recognised at cost. The cost of an acquisition 
is measured at the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued or liabilities 
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. 
Goodwill on associated companies represents the excess of the cost of acquisition of the 
associated company over the Group’s share of the fair value of the identifiable net assets of 
the associated company and is included in the carrying amount of the investments. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.4 Group accounting (continued) 
 

(c) Associated companies (continued) 
 

(ii) Equity method of accounting 
 
Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and 
adjusted thereafter to recognise Group’s share of its associated companies’ post-acquisition 
profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss and its share of movements in other 
comprehensive income of the investee’s other comprehensive income. Dividends received or 
receivable from the associated companies are recognised as a reduction of the carrying 
amount of the investments. When the Group’s share of losses in an associated company equals 
to or exceeds its interest in the associated company, the Group does not recognise further 
losses, unless it has legal or constructive obligations to make, or has made, payments on behalf 
of the associated company. If the associated company subsequently reports profits, the Group 
resumes recognising its share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the share 
of losses not recognised. 

 
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associated companies are 
eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in the associated companies. Unrealised losses 
are also eliminated unless the transactions provide evidence of impairment of the assets 
transferred. The accounting policies of associated companies is changed where necessary to 
ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group. 

 
(iii) Disposals 
 

Investments in associated companies is derecognised when the Group loses significant 
influence. If the retained equity interest in the former associated company is a financial asset, 
the retained equity interest is measured at fair value. The difference between the carrying 
amount of the retained interest at the date when significant influence is lost, and its fair value 
and any proceeds on partial disposal, is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Please refer to the paragraph “Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies” for the 
accounting policy on investments in associated companies and in the separate financial 
statements of the Company. 

 
2.5 Property, plant and equipment  

 
(a) Measurement 

 
(i) Property, plant and equipment  

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Dismantlement, removal 
or restoration costs are included as part of the cost of property, plant and equipment if the 
obligation for dismantlement, removal or restoration is incurred as a consequence of acquiring 
or using the property, plant and equipment. 

 
(ii) Components of costs 

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase 
price and any cost that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and 
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.  

  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2021 
 

23 
 

8VI Holdings Limited and its Subsidiaries 
Annual Report FY2021 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.5 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 
(b) Depreciation 

 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate 
their depreciable amounts over their estimated useful lives as follows: 
 

 Useful lives 
Office premises 1 to 3 years 
Office equipment 1 to 3 years 
Furniture and fittings 3 years 
Motor vehicles 5 years 

 
The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method of property, plant and equipment 
are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each reporting date. The effects of any revision are 
recognised in profit or loss when the changes arise. 

 
(c) Subsequent expenditure 

 
Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been recognised 
is added to the carrying amount of the asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the entity and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All 
other repair and maintenance expenses are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. 

 
(d) Disposal  

 
On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the disposal 
proceeds and its carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss within “other gains and (losses)”.  

 
2.6 Intangible assets 
 

(a) Goodwill 
 

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses, represents the excess of (i) the sum of the 
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the 
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over (ii) the fair value of the 
identifiable net assets acquired. Goodwill on subsidiaries is recognised separately as intangible assets 
and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Goodwill on acquisitions of associated companies represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition 
over the Group’s share of the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired. Goodwill on associated 
companies is included in the carrying amount of the investments. 

 
Gains and losses on the disposal of subsidiaries and associated companies include the carrying 
amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold. 
 

(b) Development of software 
 

Research costs are recognised as an expense when incurred. Costs directly attributable to the 
development of VI App and CRM system are capitalised as intangible assets only when technical 
feasibility of the project is demonstrated, the Group has an intention and ability to complete and use 
the software and the costs can be measured reliably. Such costs include purchases of materials and 
services and payroll-related costs of employees directly involved in the project and are amortised 
over their estimated useful lives of 2 years.  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.6 Intangible assets (continued) 
 

(b) Development of software (continued) 
 

Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the asset is carried at cost 
less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation of the asset 
begins when development is complete and the asset is available for use. It has a finite useful life and 
is amortised over the period of expected future benefit (2 years) on a straight-line basis. Amortisation 
is recorded in cost of sales. During the period of development, the asset is tested for impairment 
annually. 

 
2.7 Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies 

 
Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies are carried at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses in the Company’s statement of financial position. On disposal of such investments, the difference 
between disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts of the investments are recognised in profit or loss. 
 

2.8 Impairment of non-financial assets  
 

(a) Goodwill 
 

Goodwill recognised separately as an intangible asset is tested for impairment annually and whenever 
there is indication that the goodwill may be impaired.  
 
For the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating-units (“CGU”) expected to benefit from synergies arising from the business combination. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of a CGU, including the goodwill, exceeds 
the recoverable amount of the CGU. The recoverable amount of a CGU is the higher of the CGU’s fair 
value less cost to sell and value-in-use.  
 
The total impairment loss of a CGU is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of goodwill 
allocated to the CGU and then to the other assets of the CGU pro-rata on the basis of the carrying 
amount of each asset in the CGU. 
 
An impairment loss on goodwill is recognised as an expense and is not reversed in a subsequent 
period. 

 
(b)  Intangible assets 

Property, plant and equipment 
Right-of-use assets 
Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies 

 
Intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and investments in subsidiaries 
and associated companies are tested for impairment whenever there is any objective evidence or 
indication that these assets may be impaired. 
 
For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less 
cost to sell and the value-in-use) is determined on an individual asset basis unless the asset does not 
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets. If this is the case, the 
recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the asset belongs. 
 
If the recoverable amount of the asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.8 Impairment of non-financial assets (continued) 
 

(b)  Intangible assets 
Property, plant and equipment 
Right-of-use assets 
Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies (continued) 
 
The difference between the carrying amount and recoverable amount is recognised as an impairment 
loss in profit or loss. 
 
An impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if, there has been a change in 
the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was 
recognised. The carrying amount of this asset is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided 
that this amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any 
accumulated amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in 
prior years. 
 
A reversal of impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is recognised in profit or loss, unless 
the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case, such reversal is treated as a revaluation 
increase. However, to the extent that an impairment loss on the same revalued asset was previously 
recognised as an expense, a reversal of that impairment is also recognised in profit or loss. 

 
2.9 Financial assets 

 
 (a) Classification and measurement 

 
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: 
 
• Amortised cost; 
• Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI); and 
• Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL). 
 
The classification depends on the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets as well as 
the contractual terms of the cash flows of the financial asset. 
 
The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those 
assets changes. 
 
At initial recognition 

 
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a 
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable 
to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value 
through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss. 

 
At subsequent measurement 

 
(i)  Debt instruments 
 

Debt instruments mainly comprise of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, 
listed and unlisted debt securities. 
 
 
 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2021 
 

26 
 

8VI Holdings Limited and its Subsidiaries 
Annual Report FY2021 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.9 Financial assets (continued) 
 

(a) Classification and measurement (continued) 
 

At subsequent measurement (continued) 
 

(i)  Debt instruments (continued) 
 
There are three subsequent measurement categories, depending on the Group’s business 
model for managing the asset and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the asset: 
 

• Amortised cost: Debt instruments that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where 
those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at 
amortised cost. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at 
amortised cost and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss when the 
asset is derecognised or impaired. Interest income from these financial assets is included in 
other income and presented as interest income using the effective interest rate method. 
 

• FVOCI: Debt instruments that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for sale, and 
where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are classified 
as FVOCI. Movements in fair values are recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) and 
accumulated in fair value reserve, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, 
interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses, which are recognised in profit and loss. 
When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in 
OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and presented in “other gains/(losses)”. Interest 
income from these financial assets is recognised using the effective interest rate method and 
presented in “interest income”. 

 
• FVPL: Debt instruments that are held for trading as well as those that do not meet the criteria 

for classification as amortised cost or FVOCI are classified as FVPL. Movement in fair values 
and interest income that is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss in 
the period in which it arises and presented in “other gains/(losses)”.  

 
(ii)  Equity instruments 

 
The Group subsequently measures all its equity investments at their fair values. Equity 
instruments are classified as FVPL with movements in their fair values recognised in profit or 
loss in the period in which the changes arise and presented in “other gains/(losses)”, except 
where the Group has elected to classify the investments as FVOCI.  
 
Movements in fair values of investments classified as FVOCI are presented as “fair value gains 
and losses” in Other Comprehensive Income. Dividends from equity investments are 
recognised in profit or loss as “dividend income”. 

 
(b)  Expected credit losses 

 
The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held 
at FVPL. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with 
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation 
of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of 
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.9 Financial assets (continued) 
 

(b)  Expected credit losses (continued) 
 
ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from 
default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit 
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss 
allowance is recognised for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective 
of timing of the default (a lifetime ECL). 
 
For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the 
Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognised a loss allowance based on lifetime 
ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical 
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic 
environment which could affect debtors’ ability to pay. 

 
For debt instruments at FVOCI, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification. At every reporting 
date, the Group evaluates whether the debt instrument is considered to have low credit risk using all 
reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort. In making that 
evaluation, the Company reassesses the internal credit rating of the debt instrument. In addition, the 
Company considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when the contractual 
payments are more than 90 days past due. 
 
The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. 
However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be default when internal 
or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual 
amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial 
asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows. 

 
(c)  Impairment 

 
The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its debt 
financial assets carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied depends 
on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. 
 
For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by the FRS 109, which 
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables. 
 

(d)  Recognition and derecognition 
 
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date – the date on which 
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership. 
 
On disposal of a debt instrument, the difference between the carrying amount and the sale proceeds 
is recognised in profit or loss. Any amount previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
relating to that asset is reclassified to profit or loss. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.9 Financial assets (continued) 
 
(d)  Recognition and derecognition (continued) 

 
On disposal of an equity investment, the difference between the carrying amount and sales proceed 
is recognised in profit or loss if there was no election made to recognise fair value changes in other 
comprehensive income. If there was an election made, any difference between the carrying amount 
and sales proceed amount would be recognised in other comprehensive income and transferred to 
retained profits along with the amount previously recognised in other comprehensive income relating 
to that asset. 
 

2.10 Offsetting of financial instruments  
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of 
financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset and there is an intention to settle on 
a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
 

2.11 Trade and other payables 
 
Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the 
end of financial year which are unpaid. They are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within 
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). Otherwise, they are presented 
as noncurrent liabilities. 
 
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value, and subsequently carried at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. 
 

2.12 Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities 
 
The fair values of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as exchange-traded and over-the-
counter securities and derivatives) are based on quoted market prices at the reporting date. The quoted 
market prices used for financial assets are the current bid prices; the appropriate quoted market prices 
used for financial liabilities are the current asking prices.  
 
The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market are determined by using 
valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions based on market 
conditions that are existing at each reporting date. Where appropriate, quoted market prices or dealer 
quotes for similar instruments are used. Valuation techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are 
also used to determine the fair values of the financial instruments. 
 

2.13 Leases 
 

(a) When the Group is the lessee:  
 

At the inception of the contract, the Group assesses if the contract contains a lease. A contract 
contains a lease if the contract convey the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period 
of time in exchange for consideration. Reassessment is only required when the terms and conditions 
of the contract are changed. 

 

• Right-of-use assets  
The Group recognised a right-of-use asset and lease liability at the date which the underlying asset is 
available for use. Right-of use assets are measured at cost which comprises the initial measurement 
of lease liabilities adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date and 
lease incentive received. Any initial direct costs that would not have been incurred if the lease had 
not been obtained are added to the carrying amount of the right-of-use assets.  
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.13 Leases (continued) 
 

(a) When the Group is the lessee: (continued) 
 
These right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of 
the lease term. 
 
Right-of-use assets (except for those which meets the definition of an investment property) are 
presented within “Property, plant and equipment”.  

 
• Lease liabilities  

The initial measurement of lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments 
discounted using the implicit rate in the lease, if the rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot 
be readily determined, the Group shall use its incremental borrowing rate. 
 
Lease payments include the following: 
 
- Fixed payment (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivables;  
-  Variable lease payment that are based on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate 

as at the commencement date;  
-  Amount expected to be payable under residual value guarantees  
-  The exercise price of a purchase option if is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and  
- Payment of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising that 

option.  
 

For contract that contain both lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the 
consideration to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease and 
non-lease component. The Group has elected to not separate lease and non lease component for 
property leases and account these as one single lease component. 

 
For contract that contain both lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the 
consideration to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease and 
non-lease component. The Group has elected to not separate lease and non lease component for 
property leases and account these as one single lease component. 
 
Lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Lease liability shall 
be remeasured when:  
 
-  There is a change in future lease payments arising from changes in an index or rate;  
-  There is a changes in the Group’s assessment of whether it will exercise an extension option; or  
-  There are modification in the scope or the consideration of the lease that was not part of the original 

term.  
 
Lease liability is remeasured with a corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset, or is recorded 
in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero. 

 
• Short term and low value leases  

The Group has elected to not recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases 
that have lease terms of 12 months or less and leases of low value leases, except for sublease 
arrangements. Lease payments relating to these leases are expensed to profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.13 Leases (continued) 
 

(a) When the Group is the lessee: (continued) 
 

• Early adoption of amendment to FRS 116 Leases: Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions 
The Company has applied the amendment to FRS 116 Leases: Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions. 
The Company applies the practical expedient allowing it not to assess whether a rent concession 
related to COVID-19 is a lease modification. The Company applies the practical expedient consistently 
to contracts with similar characteristics and in similar circumstances. For rent concessions in leases 
to which the Company chooses not to apply the practical expedient, or that do not qualify for the 
practical expedient, the Company assesses whether there is a lease modification. 

 
(b) When the Group is the lessor 

 
The accounting policy applicable to the Group as a lessor in the comparative period were the same 
under FRS 16 except when the Group is an intermediate lessor.  
 
In classifying a sublease, the Group as an intermediate lessor classifies the sublease as a finance or an 
operating lease with reference to the right of-use asset arising from the head lease, rather than the 
underlying asset.  
 
When the sublease is assessed as a finance lease, the Group derecognises the right-of-use asset 
relating to the head lease that it transfers to the sublessee and recognised the net investment in the 
sublease within “Trade and other receivables”. Any differences between the right-of-use asset 
derecognised and the net investment in sublease is recognised in profit or loss. Lease liability relating 
to the head lease is retains in the balance sheet, which represents the lease payments owed to the 
head lessor.  
 
When the sublease is assessed as an operating lease, the Group recognise lease income from sublease 
in profit or loss within “Other income”. The right-of-use asset relating to the head lease is not 
derecognised.  
 
For contract which contains lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration 
based on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. 

 
2.14 Income taxes  

 
Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised at the amount expected to be paid to or 
recovered from the tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the end of reporting period. Management periodically evaluates positions taken 
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It 
establishes provisions, where appropriate, on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax 
authorities. 
 
Deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements except when the deferred income 
tax arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a 
business combination and affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss at the time of the 
transaction. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.14 Income taxes (continued) 
 
A deferred income tax liability is recognised on temporary differences arising on investments in 
subsidiaries and associated companies, except where the Group is able to control the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future. 
 
A deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will 
be available against which the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilised.  

 
Deferred income tax is measured: 

 
(i) at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or 

the deferred income tax liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period; and 

 
(ii) based on the tax consequence that will follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the 

end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilities.  
 

Current and deferred income taxes are recognised as income or expense in profit or loss, except to the 
extent that the tax arises from a business combination or a transaction which is recognised directly in 
equity. Deferred tax arising from a business combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition. 

 
The Group accounts for investment tax credits (for example, productivity and innovative credit) similar 
to accounting for other tax credits where deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax credits to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax credit 
can be utilised.  

 
2.15 Provisions 

 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as finance expense. 
 
Changes in the estimated timing or amount of the expenditure or discount rate are recognised in profit 
or loss when the changes arise. 

 
2.16 Employee compensation 
 

Employee benefits are recognised as an expense, unless the cost qualifies to be capitalised as an asset. 
 

Defined contribution plans 
Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed 
contributions into separate entities such as the Central Provident Fund on a mandatory, contractual or 
voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. 
 
Short-term compensated absences 
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is 
made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the 
reporting date. 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.16 Employee compensation (continued) 
 
Employee share plan 
The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan. The value of the employee 
services received in exchange for the grant of options is recognised as an expense with a corresponding 
increase in the share option reserve over the vesting period. The total amount to be recognised over the 
vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted on grant date. Non-
market vesting conditions are included in the estimation of the number of shares under options that are 
expected to become exercisable on the vesting date.  
 
At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of shares under options that 
are expected to become exercisable on the vesting date and recognises the impact of the revision of the 
estimates in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve over the 
remaining vesting period.  
 
When the options are exercised, the proceeds received (net of transaction costs) and the related balance 
previously recognised in the share option reserve are credited to the share capital account, when new 
ordinary shares are issued, or to the “treasury shares” account, when treasury shares are re-issued to 
the employees. 
 

2.17 Currency translation  
 

(a) Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”). 
The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars, which is the functional currency of the 
Company. 

 
(b) Transactions and balances 

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated into 
the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Currency exchange 
differences resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rates at the reporting date are 
recognised in profit or loss.  

 
 When a foreign operation is disposed of or any loan forming part if the net investment of the foreign 

operation is repaid, a proportion share of the accumulated currency translation differences is 
reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on disposal.  

 
(c) Translation of Group entities’ financial statements 

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a 
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency 
are translated into the presentation currency as follows: 

 
(i) assets and liabilities are translated at the closing exchange rates at the reporting date; 

 
(ii) income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates (unless the average is not a 

reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction 
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated using the exchange rates at the dates 
of the transactions); and 
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2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.17 Currency translation (continued) 
 

(c) Translation of Group entities’ financial statements (continued) 
 

(iii) all resulting currency translation differences are recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in the currency translation reserve. These currency translation differences 
are reclassified to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the entity giving rise to such 
reserve.  
 
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operations are treated 
as assets and liabilities of the foreign operations and translated at the closing rates at the 
reporting date. 
 

2.18 Segment reporting 
 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 
executive committee whose members are responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments. 
 

2.19 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
include cash at banks, cash on hand and deposits with financial institutions which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of change in value.   

 
2.20 Share capital 

 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new 
ordinary shares are deducted against the share capital account. 
 
 

3. Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments 
 
Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. 

 
3.1 Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies  

 
(a) Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables  

 
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables. The provision rates are 
based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns. 
 
The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group 
will calibrate the matrix to adjust historical credit loss experience with forward-looking 
information. At every reporting date, historical default rates are updated and changes in the 
forward-looking estimates are analysed. 
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3. Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments (continued) 
 

3.1 Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies (continued) 
 

(a) Provision for expected credit losses of trade receivables (continued) 
 

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic 
conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in 
circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience 
and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of customer’s actual default 
in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in Note 
26. 
 
The carrying amount of the Group’s trade receivables as at 31 March 2021 was S$282,856 (2020: 
S$318,298).   

 
(b) Deferred tax assets 

 
Deferred tax assets in respect of current and prior period accumulated tax losses are not (unless 
related to overseas jurisdictions) recognised at balance sheet date as management has assessed 
that it is not probable that sufficient taxable surplus will be available to allow all or part of the 
deferred income tax asset to be utilised. 

 
(c) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment  

 
The useful life of an item of property, plant and equipment is estimated at the time the asset is 
acquired and is based on historical experience with similar assets and takes into account 
anticipated technological or other changes. If changes occur more rapidly than anticipated or the 
asset experiences unexpected level of wear and tear, the useful life will be adjusted accordingly. 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s property, plant and equipment as at 31 March 2021 was 
S$1,440,868 (2020: S$1,572,875). 
 

(d) Amortisation and useful lives of intangible assets  
 
The Group estimates the useful lives to amortise intangible assets based on the future 
performance of the assets acquired and management's judgement of the period over which 
economic benefits will be derived from the assets. The estimated useful lives of intangible assets 
are reviewed periodically, taking into consideration factors such as changes in technology. The 
amount and timing of recorded expenses for any period would be affected by changes in the 
estimates. A reduction in the estimated useful lives of the intangible assets would increase the 
recorded expenses and decrease the non-current assets. 
 
The cost of intangible asset is amortised on a straight-line basis over the assets' useful lives. 
Directors estimate the useful lives of these intangible assets to be 2 years. 
 

(e) Determination of lease term of contracts with extension options 
 

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s lease liabilities, which are measured with reference to an 
estimate of the lease term, amounted to S$871,714, of which none arose from extension options. 
Extension option is included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended. In 
determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an 
economic incentive to exercise the extension option.  
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3. Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgments (continued) 
 

3.1 Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies (continued) 
 

(e) Determination of lease term of contracts with extension options (continued) 
 
For leases of office premises, the following factors are considered to be most relevant:  
 
• If any leasehold improvements are expected to have a significant remaining value, the Group 

typically includes the extension option in lease liabilities;  
 
• Otherwise, the Group considers other factors including its costs required to obtain replacement 

assets, and business disruptions.  
 
As at 31 March 2021, the Group did not include the extension option in the lease term for leases 
of office premises as it is not certain that the extension options will be exercised. 
 

(f) Leases – estimating the incremental borrowing rate 
 

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its 
incremental borrowing rate to measure lease liabilities. The incremental borrowing rate is the 
rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar 
security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a 
similar economic environment. The incremental borrowing rate therefore reflects what the 
Group ‘would have to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available or 
when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The Group 
estimates the incremental borrowing rate using observable inputs (such as market interest rates) 
when available and is required to make certain entity-specific estimates.  
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4. Property, plant and equipment 
   

Furniture and 
fittings 

Office 
equipment 

Motor 
vehicles 

Office 
premises Total 

Group S$ S$ S$ S$ S$ 
Cost      
At 1 April 2019 1,167,312 382,982 104,128 - 1,654,422 
Adoption of FRS116 - - - 2,497,157 2,497,157 
 1,167,312 382,982 104,128 2,497,157 4,151,579 
Additions 90,607 78,208 - 70,928 239,743 
Acquisition of subsidiaries  1,320 1,624 - - 2,944 
Exchange differences 16,598 9,880 (345) 8,693 34,826 
At 31 March 2020 1,275,837 472,694 103,783 2,576,778 4,429,092 
Additions 148,703 425,580 - 969,403 1,543,686 
Disposals (1,471) (4,527) - - (5,998) 
Written off (264,308) (12,152) - (2,189,602) (2,466,062) 
Exchange differences (36,269) (30,568) (2,257) (7,424) (76,518) 
At 31 March 2021 1,122,492 851,027 101,526 1,349,155 3,424,200  

     
Accumulated depreciation      
At 1 April 2019 754,691 310,482 67,683 - 1,132,856 
Depreciation 235,604 57,357 20,649 1,381,191 1,694,801 
Exchange differences 13,549 8,871 (116) 6,256 28,560 
At 31 March 2020 1,003,844 376,710 88,216 1,387,447 2,856,217 
Depreciation 219,628 132,387 15,368 1,263,914 1,631,297 
Disposals (204) (1,509) - - (1,713) 
Written off (254,114) (11,198) - (2,165,814) (2,431,126) 
Exchange differences (35,110) (29,776) (2,058) (4,399) (71,343) 
At 31 March 2021 934,044 466,614 101,526 481,148 1,983,332  

     
Net carrying amount      
At 31 March 2020 271,993 95,984 15,567 1,189,331 1,572,875 

At 31 March 2021 188,448 384,413 - 868,007 1,440,868  
     

(a) The carrying amounts of motor vehicles held under finance leases are S$Nil (2020: S$15,567) at the end 
of reporting period. The hire purchase liabilities had been fully settled during the financial year.  

 
(b) Right-of-use assets acquired under leasing arrangements are presented as “office premises”. 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2021 
 

37 
 

8VI Holdings Limited and its Subsidiaries 
Annual Report FY2021 

5. Intangible assets 
 Group 
 2021  2020 
 S$  S$ 

Compositions:    
Goodwill (a) 9,305  9,305 
Development of software (b) 790,401  430,439 

 799,706  439,744 

 
(a)    Goodwill Group 
 2021  2020 
 S$  S$ 

Cost    
Beginning of financial year 9,305  - 
Addition from acquisition of subsidiaries -  9,305 
End of financial year 9,305  9,305 

 
(b)    Development of software Group 
 2021  2020 
 S$  S$ 

Cost    
Beginning of financial year 528,406  - 
Acquisition of subsidiaries  -  340,347 
Additions 673,096  188,059 
End of financial year 1,201,502  528,406 

    
Accumulated amortisation    
Beginning of financial year 97,967  - 
Amortisation charged 313,134  97,967 
End of financial year 411,101  97,967 

    
Carrying amount 790,401  430,439 

 
(c)  Amortisation expense included in the statement of comprehensive income is analysed as follows: 

 
 Group 
 2021  2020 
 S$  S$ 
    

Administrative expenses 313,134  97,967 

 
 
6. Investment in subsidiaries 
  

  Company  
  2021    2020  
  S$    S$   

   

Shares, at cost 29,418,798  29,140,848 
Addition of subsidiaries -  277,950 
Less: Allowance for impairment losses (26,850,405)  (26,850,405) 

 2,568,393  2,568,393 
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6. Investment in subsidiaries (continued) 
 
a)    Composition of the Group 
 
The Group has the following investment in subsidiaries. 

Name 

Principal 
place of 
business Principal activities 

Proportion 
of 

ownership 
interest 

   2021 2020 
Held by the Company  % % 
8VI Global Pte. Ltd. (a) Singapore Conducting business courses 100 100 

8Bit Global Pte. Ltd. (a) Singapore 
Computer programming and data 

processing and hosting 
51 51 

     
Held through 8VI Global Pte. Ltd.    
8VIC Singapore Pte. Ltd. (d)  Singapore  Dormant 100 100 
8VI Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. (b) Malaysia Conducting business courses 100 100 
8VI Taiwan Co., Ltd. (d) Taiwan Conducting business courses 70 70 
8VIC (Thailand) Co., Ltd. (d) Thailand Dormant 90.6 90.6 
Value Investing College Pte. Ltd. (d) Singapore Dormant 100 100 
8VI China Pte. Ltd. (a)  Singapore Investment holdings 65 65 
     
Held through 8VI Malaysia Sdn Bhd    
8VIC JooY Media Sdn Bhd (c) Malaysia Agency and media 100 70 
     
Held through 8VI China Pte. Ltd.     

8VI China (Shanghai) Co. Ltd (d) 
People’s 

Republic of 
China 

Business and management consultancy 
services 

65 65 

     
Held through 8VI China (Shanghai) Co. Ltd    

Shanghai Ba Tou Culture Media Co. 
Ltd (d) 

People’s 
Republic of 

China 
Seminar and programs organiser 65 - 

 
(a) Audited by Group auditor, KLP LLP 
(b) Audited by Crowe Malaysia PLT 
(c) Audited by CWC & ENG PLT 
(d) No statutory audit required 
 

Significant restrictions 
Cash and short-term deposits of S$297,811 (2020: S$130,608) are held in the People’s Republic of China and are 
subject to local exchange control regulations. These local exchange control regulations provide for restrictions 
on exporting capital from the country, other than through normal dividends. 

 
b) Interest in subsidiaries with material non-controlling interest (NCI) 
 
The Group has the following subsidiary that has NCI that are material to the Group. 

 

Name 

Principal 
place of 
business 

Proportion of 
ownership interest 

held by non-
controlling interest 

Profit allocated 
to NCI during the 
reporting period 

Accumulated NCI 
at the end of 

reporting period 
   S$ S$ 
8Bit Global Pte. Ltd.  Singapore 49% 890,618 1,082,965 
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6. Investment in subsidiaries (continued) 
 

c) Summarised financial information about subsidiary with material NCI 

 
Summarised financial information including goodwill on acquisition and consolidation adjustments but 
before intercompany eliminations of subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests, from date of 
acquisition, are as follows: 

 
 Summarised statement of financial position 

 Subsidiary with material NCI 
  2021    2020  
  S$    S$  

Current    

Assets 4,879,223  1,099,951 
Liabilities (3,497,263)  (1,137,843) 
Net current assets 1,381,960  (37,892) 

Net assets 2,210,133  392,546 

 
Summarised statement of comprehensive income 

    

Revenue 4,204,782  539,972 
Profit/(Loss) before tax 1,779,815  (134,209) 
Income tax expense -  - 
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 1,817,587  (134,209) 

 
 Other summarised information 

    

Net cash flows from operating activities 3,980,536  56,568 
Net cash flows used in investing activities (673,036)  (188,059) 
Net cash flows from financing activities -  500,000 
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7. Investment in associated company 
  Group 
  2021  2020 
  S$  S$ 
     
 Investment in associated company, at carrying amount -  - 
 

Set out below is the associated company of the Group as at 31 March 2021, which, in the opinion of the 
directors, is material to the Group. The associated company as listed below have share capital consisting 
solely of ordinary shares, which is held directly by the Group; the country of incorporation is also its 
principal place of business.  

 

 Name of entity 

Place of business/ 
country of 

incorporation 
% of ownership 

interest 
   2021 2020 
     
 Held through 8VI Global Pte. Ltd.    
 Learnpod Pte. Ltd.  Singapore 30.0% 30.0% 

 
 

8. Financial assets at FVPL and at FVOCI 
 

  Group  Company 

  2021    2020    2021    2020  

  S$    S$    S$    S$  

    
 

   

Current – listed quoted equity securities        
Financial assets, at FVPL 3,600,947  402,305               -                  -    

        

Non-current – listed quoted equity securities        

Financial assets, at FVOCI 7,421  7,443               -                  -    

        

 3,608,368  409,748               -                  -    

 
 

9. Trade and other receivables 
 

  Group    Company  
  2021    2020    2021    2020  
  S$    S$    S$    S$  

Trade receivables        
- third parties 387,505  455,835  -  - 

Less: Allowance for credit losses 
(Note 26(b)) (104,649)  (137,537)  -  - 

Trade receivables (net) 282,856  318,298  -  - 
        

Other receivables 121,453  339,006  2,760  40,671 
Amount due from subsidiaries -  -  -  547,076 
Deposits 1,082,955  926,883  -  - 
GST receivables 6,279  45,652  -  - 

 1,493,543  1,629,839  2,760  587,747 
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9. Trade and other receivables (continued) 
 
Trade receivables are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are generally on 7 to 30 days terms (2020: 7 
to 30 days). 
 
Included in current deposits are bankers’ guarantee of S$426,000 (2020: S$190,000) as required by Global 
Payments Asia Pacific (Hong Kong Holding) Limited and Green World FinTech Service Co., Ltd. in order to 
provide services in accordance to the merchant agreements. 
 
Related party balances 
Amount due from subsidiaries are non-trade, unsecured, interest-free and with no fixed terms of 
repayment.  

 

10. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

  Group    Company  
  2021    2020    2021    2020  

  S$    S$    S$    S$  

  
 

 
    

Cash on hand 32,945  45,814  -  - 
Cash at banks 15,971,196  4,377,776  1,574,600  288,525 
Short-term bank deposits 2,625,088  3,010,000  -  - 
Fixed deposits 100,000  -  -  - 

 18,729,229  7,433,590  1,574,600  288,525 

 
       

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term bank deposits 
have maturity of one to three months and a weighted average effective interest rates of 1.52% (2020: 
1.42%) per annum of the Group. Fixed deposits have maturity of more than three months and bear 
interest rate of 0.15% (2020: Not applicable).  
 
For the purpose of presenting the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 
comprise the following: 

  Group 
  2021  2020 
  S$  S$ 
     
 Cash and bank balances (as above) 18,729,229  7,433,590 
 Less: Fixed deposits (100,000)  - 
 Cash and cash equivalents per consolidated statement of cash flows  18,629,229  7,433,590 

 
 

11. Share capital 
 

 2021  2020  
No. of shares(1)  S$   No. of shares(1)  S$  

Group 
 

 
 

 
 

Issued and fully paid ordinary shares 
    

At beginning of financial year 40,545,626 12,895,103  40,545,626 12,895,103 
Issuance of shares under Employee 

Securities Incentive Plan 828,800 387,090  
- - 

At end of financial year 41,374,426 13,282,193  40,545,626 12,895,103 
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11. Share capital (continued) 
 

 2021  2020 
 No. of shares(1) S$  No. of shares(1) S$ 
Company      
Issued and fully paid ordinary shares      
At beginning of financial year 40,545,626 77,423,174  40,545,626 77,423,174 
Issuance of shares under Employee 

Securities Incentive Plan 828,800 387,090  
- - 

At end of financial year 41,374,426 77,810,264  40,545,626 77,423,174 

 
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. 
All ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restrictions. The ordinary shares have no par value. 
 
(1) The equity structure (i.e. the number and types of equity instruments issued) reflect the equity 

structure of the Company, being the legal parent, including the equity instruments issued by the 
Company to effect the reverse acquisition. 

 
 

12. Foreign currency translation reserve 
 

The foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences arising from the translation of 
the financial statements of foreign operations whose functional currencies are different from that of the 
Group’s presentation currency. 

 
 
13. Employee securities plan reserve 
 
  Group/Company 
  2021  2020 
  S$  S$ 
 Movement:    
 Beginning of financial year -  - 
 Value of employee services 613,958  - 
 Performance rights exercised (335,208)  - 
 End of financial year 278,750  - 

 
The Company’s Employee Securities Incentive Plan (“Share Plan”) for key directors and employees of the 
Group was approved by members of the Company as its annual general meeting on 23 July 2020. The 
Share Plan provides a means to attract, motivate and retain key directors and employees and provide 
them with the opportunity to participate in the future growth of the Company.  
 
Under the Share Plan, the board of directors may from time to time determine that a director of the 
companies of the Group, subject to its members’ approval, or an employee may participate in the Share 
Plan to apply for securities on such terms and conditions as the board of directors decides. 
 
The persons to whom the rights and options have been issued have no right to participate by virtue of 
the options in any share issue of any other companies of the Group. The Group has no legal or 
constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the securities in cash. 
 
During the financial year, pursuant to members’ approval at its annual general meeting on 23 July 2020, 
the Company granted its directors options to subscribe for 2,000,000 ordinary shares at exercise price of 
AUD 0.45 per share (“Options”) and performance rights to be converted into 2,600,000 ordinary shares 
upon meeting the vesting conditions (“Performance Rights”).  
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13. Employee securities plan reserve (continued)  
 

The Options are exercisable from 21 August 2020 and expire on 30 June 2025. The total fair value of the 
Options granted was estimated to be AUD 955,600 using the Hoadleys Employee Stock Option Model. 
 
The Performance Rights will not have consideration on satisfaction of the vesting conditions. The vesting 
conditions for the Performance Rights are: 
- The holder being a director of the Company as at the relevant vesting determination dates specified 

in the table below; and 
- The relevant volume weighted average price (VWAP) of the Company’s shares traded on ASX over 

any 20-day period exceeds the prices specified in the table below. 
 

 Performance Rights granted Vesting conditions  

Performance 
Rights Number 

Effective 
grant date 

Fair value 
per right 

at 
effective 

grant date 
(AUD) 

Earliest vesting 
determination 

date 

VWAP 
Share Price 
condition 

(AUD) Expiry Date 
       
Class A 400,000 23 Jul 2020 0.4675 21 Aug 2020 0.45 30 Apr 2021 
Class B 400,000 23 Jul 2020 0.3813 21 Aug 2020 0.60 30 Apr 2021 
Class C 400,000 23 Jul 2020 0.4037 01 Apr 2021 0.70 30 Apr 2022 
Class D 400,000 23 Jul 2020 0.2016 01 Apr 2021 2.00 30 Apr 2022 
Class E 500,000 23 Jul 2020 0.2570 01 Apr 2022 2.30 30 Apr 2023 
Class F 500,000 23 Jul 2020 0.1389 01 Apr 2022 5.00 30 Apr 2023 

 
The total fair value of the Performance Rights granted was estimated to be AUD 779,590 using the 
Hoadleys Hybrid ESO Model (a Monte Carlo simulation model). 
 
Movements in the number of unissued ordinary shares of the Company under the Share Plan and their 
exercise prices are as follows: 

 
 No. of unissued ordinary shares of the Company  

under Share Plan    
 

Beginning 
of financial 

year 

Granted 
during the 
financial 

year 

Exercised 
during the 
financial 

year 

End of 
financial 

year 
Exercise 

price Exercise period 
Performance       
Rights:       

- Class A - 400,000 (400,000) - - 21.08.2020-30.04.2021 
- Class B - 400,000 (400,000) - - 21.08.2020-30.04.2021 
- Class C - 400,000 - 400,000 - 01.04.2021-30.04.2022 
- Class D - 400,000 - 400,000 - 01.04.2021-30.04.2022 
- Class E - 500,000 - 500,000 - 01.04.2022-30.04.2023 
- Class F - 500,000 - 500,000 - 01.04.2022-30.04.2023 
Options - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 AUD 0.45 21.08.2020-30.06.2025 
 - 4,600,000 (800,000) 3,800,000   

 
There were no unissued ordinary shares under Share Plan in financial year 2020.  
 
During the financial year, the vesting conditions of the Class A and Class B Performance Rights were 
satisfied and both classes of Performance Rights were exercised. 800,000 ordinary shares of 8VI were 
issued to the holders of Class A and Class B Performance Rights.  
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14. Other reserves 
 

Other reserves comprise of premium paid on acquisition of 49% non-controlling interest in 8VIC 
Singapore Pte. Ltd. during the financial year ended 31 March 2017. 

 
 

15. Trade and other payables 
  

  Group    Company  
  2021    2020    2021    2020  
  S$    S$    S$    S$  
        

Trade payables        
   - third parties 474,973  199,247  5,545  5,561 
Other payables 213,394  283,448  -  - 
Accruals 2,105,504  687,474  196,341  81,393 
Amount due to holding company -  -  -  3,857 
Amount due to related companies 392,627  301,730  -  - 
GST payable 260,353  176,336  39,060  - 

 3,446,851  1,648,235  240,946  90,811 

 
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are generally payable based on agreed terms between the 
parties. 
 
Amount due to holding company and related companies are non-trade, unsecured, interest-free and with 
no fixed terms of repayment.  

 
 
16. Unearned revenue 
 

  Group    Company  
  2021    2020    2021    2020  
  S$    S$    S$    S$  

Current:        

Advances from customers 9,521,393  3,696,702  -  - 
Deferred grant income -  149,100  -  16,100 

 9,521,393  3,845,802  -  16,100 
        

Non-current:        
Advances from customers 233,789  -  -  - 
        
 9,755,182  3,845,802  -  16,100 

 
Advances from customers represent amount received from customers but not yet recognised to the profit 
or loss as service has yet to be rendered as at reporting date.  
 
 

17. Lease liabilities  
 
 Group 
 2021  2020 
 S$  S$ 
    
Lease liabilities - current 798,089  1,146,938 
Lease liabilities – non-current 73,625  67,574 
Total 871,714  1,214,512 
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17. Lease liabilities (continued) 
 

(i)  Lease liabilities - The Group as a lessee 
 

Nature of the Group’s leasing activities 
 

The Group leases office premises for the purpose of running financial education programmes and back 
office operations.  

 
(a) Carrying amounts 

 
ROU assets classified within property, plant and equipment  

 31 March 2021  31 March 2020 
 S$  S$ 
    

Office premises 868,007  1,189,331 

 
 2021  2020 
 S$  S$ 

(b)        Depreciation charged during the financial year    
Office premises 1,263,914  1,381,191 

 
(c)  Interest expense 

Interest expense on lease liabilities  33,693  80,429 
 

(d) The lease expense not capitalised in lease liabilities from low value leases was S$3,293 
(2020: S$Nil). 

 
(e) Total income from subleasing ROU assets in 2021 was S$60,632 (2020: S$154,783).   
 
(f) Net cash outflow for all the office leases in 2021 was S$1,253,096 (2020: S$1,436,440).  
 
(g) Addition of ROU assets during the financial year 2021 was S$969,403 (2020: S$70,928). 

 
(h) Reconciliation of lease liabilities arising from financing activities: 

 
 2021  2020 
 S$  S$ 
    

Beginning of financial year 1,214,512  36,424 
Principal and interest payments (1,253,096)  (1,474,008) 
Non-cash changes    
- Adoption of FRS 116 -  2,497,157 
- Addition during the year 969,403  70,928 
- Rent concession (65,191)  - 
- Interest expense 33,693  81,574 
- Written off (23,788)  - 
- Foreign exchange movement (3,819)  2,437 
End of financial year 871,714  1,214,512 
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17. Lease liabilities (continued) 
 

(ii) Lease liabilities – the Group as a lessor 
 
Nature of the Group’s leasing activities – Group as an intermediate lessor 
 
Subleases – classified as operating leases 

  
The Group acts as an intermediate lessor under arrangement in which it subleases out office space to a 
third party for monthly lease payments. The sublease periods do not form a major part of the remaining 
lease terms under the head leases and accordingly, the sub-leases are classified as operating leases. 
 
Income from subleasing the office space recognised during the financial year 2021 was S$60,632 (2020: 
S$154,783). The Group is no longer lessor as at balance sheet date.  
 

(iii) Borrowings 
 
The subsidiary of the Company had secured SGD 1 million temporary bridging loan, with 3% interest rate 
per annum, guaranteed by the Company. None has been drawn down as at balance sheet date.  
 
 

18. Deferred income taxes 
 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate 
to the same taxation authority. 
 

The amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown on the balance sheet as follows: 
 

  Group    Company  

  2021    2020    2021    2020  

  S$    S$    S$    S$  

        

Deferred tax assets:        
- Accelerated tax depreciation 2,321  2,373  -  - 
- Unearned revenue 294,034  261,958  -  - 
 296,355  264,331  -  - 
Deferred tax liabilities:        
- Accelerated tax depreciation (4,000)  (4,000)  -  - 
Net deferred tax assets: 292,355  260,331                  -                    -  

 

The movement in net deferred income tax (assets)/liabilities is as follows: 
 

  Group    Company  

  2021    2020    2021    2020  

  S$    S$    S$    S$  

        

Beginning of financial year (260,331)  (174,865)  -  - 
Tax credited to profit or loss (37,772)  (86,058)  -  - 
Currency translation differences 5,748  592  -  - 
End of financial year (292,355)  (260,331)  -  - 
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18. Deferred income taxes (continued) 
 

The Group has unrecognised tax losses of S$Nil (2020: S$2,739,695) and capital allowances of S$Nil (2020: 
S$Nil) at the balance sheet date which can be carried forward and used to offset against future taxable 
income subject to meeting certain statutory requirements by those companies with unrecognised tax 
losses and capital allowances in their respective countries of incorporation. The tax losses and capital 
allowances have no expiry date.  
 
 

19. Revenue 
 

  Group  

  2021    2020  
  S$    S$  

Type of goods or services    

Subscription income 5,212,642  539,972 
Programme fees 20,385,924  10,041,699 
Commission income 277,138  128,088 
Rendering of services 84,957  149,592 

 25,960,661  10,859,351 
    

Timing of transfer of goods or services    
At a point of time 20,740,794  10,319,379 
Over time 5,219,867  539,972 

 25,960,661  10,859,351 
 
 

20. Other income 
 

   Group  

  2021    2020  
  S$    S$  
    

Dividend income 9,581  6,511 
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets at FVPL 209,138  (4,392) 
Gain on disposal of associated company -  8,121 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,710  - 
Interest income  37,504  12,704 
Government grants 698,537  44,915 
Rental income 60,632  154,783 
Miscellaneous income 37,330  13,479 

 1,054,432  236,121 

 
 Included within Government grants are Covid-19 related rent concessions received from lessors of 
S$65,191 to which the Group applied the practical expedient as disclosed in Note 2.1.  
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21. Profit before tax 
 

The following items have been included in arriving at profit before tax: 
  

  Group  
  2021    2020  
  S$    S$  
    

Agency cost 10,967  59,370 
Amortisation of development of software 313,134  97,967 
Audit fee:    

- Auditors of the Company 44,525  56,750 
- Other auditors 17,382  10,770 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,631,297  1,694,801 
Foreign exchange differences (net) 125,750  4,218 
Impairment of financial assets 175,481  74,635 
IT expenses 235,979  185,601 
Marketing expenses 5,394,321  2,369,969 
Merchant charges 1,228,428  589,493 
Office expenses 174,828  196,902 
Other COS 88,501  61,990 
Professional fees 351,679  139,395 
Program costs 263,106  671,062 
Property, plant and equipment written-off 34,936  - 
Speakers’ fees 1,038,894  206,435 
Software expenses 438,240  53,671 
Travelling expenses 298,543  318,949 
Employee benefits expense (Note 22) 6,695,816  2,931,499 

 
 

22. Employee benefits expense 
 

  Group  

  2021    2020  

  S$    S$  

    

Employee benefits expenses (including directors)    
Salaries, fees and bonus 3,672,143  2,225,176 
CPF Contributions 509,002  294,258 
Employee Securities Share Plan 665,840  - 
Commissions and other benefits 1,848,831  412,065 

 6,695,816  2,931,499 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2021 
 

49 
 

8VI Holdings Limited and its Subsidiaries 
Annual Report FY2021 

23. Income tax  
 
The major components of income tax expenses recognised in profit or loss for the years ended 31 March 
2021 and 2020 were: 

 
 Group 
 2021  2020 
 S$  S$ 
Current income tax:    
Current year 1,046,198  184,706 
Under/(Over) provision in respect of prior years 28,743  (9,318) 
 1,074,941  175,388 
    
Deferred income tax:    
Current year (37,772)  (86,058) 
    
Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss 1,037,169  89,330 

 
Relationship between tax expenses and accounting profit 

 
A reconciliation between tax expenses and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable 
corporate tax rate for the financial years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 were as follows: 

 
  Group  

  2021    2020  
  S$    S$  
    

Profit before tax 7,532,774  868,751 
Share of results of associated company, net of tax -  135,939 
Profit before tax and share of results of associated company 7,532,774  1,004,690 

    

Income tax using the statutory tax rate of 17% (2020: 17%) 1,280,572  170,797 
    

Tax effects of:    

Non-deductible expenses 501,834  30,598 
Income not subject to taxation (118,737)  (13,902) 
Tax exemptions (102,500)  (32,425) 
Deferred tax assets recognised (37,772)  - 
Deferred tax assets not recognised 6,592  237,108 
Utilisation of previously unrecognised deferred tax assets (571,377)  (307,815) 
Utilisation of group relief (107,215)  - 
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 157,029  14,287 
Under/(Over) provision in respect of prior years 28,743  (9,318) 

Income tax expense recognised in profit or loss 1,037,169  89,330 

 
The above reconciliation is prepared by aggregating separate reconciliations for each national jurisdiction. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the financial year ended 31 March 2021 
 

50 
 

8VI Holdings Limited and its Subsidiaries 
Annual Report FY2021 

23. Income tax (continued) 
 

Movement in current income tax liabilities/(assets): 
 

  Group    Company  

  2021    2020    2021    2020  

  S$    S$    S$    S$  

        

Beginning of financial year 24,190  41,947  -  - 
Income tax paid (579,129)  (191,061)  -  - 
Tax expense 1,046,198  184,706  -  - 
Under/(Over) provision in respect of prior years 28,743  (9,318)  -  - 
Currency translation differences  (1,779)  (2,084)  -  - 
End of financial year 518,223  24,190  -  - 

 
 
24. Earnings per share  

 
(a) Basic earnings per share 
 

The basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing profit net of tax by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares during the financial period. 
 
The following table reflect the profit and share data used in the computation of basic and diluted 
earnings per share for the year ended 31 March 2021 and 2020: 

 
 Group 
 2021  2020 
    

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company (S$) 5,861,405  1,072,047 
    

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for basic 
earnings per share 40,867,766 

 
40,545,626 

    
Basic earnings per share (Singapore cents per share) 14.34  2.64 

 
(b) Diluted earnings per share 

 
For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per share, profit attributable to equity holders of the 
Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding are adjusted for the 
effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The Company has one category of dilutive potential 
ordinary shares: share options. 
 
For share options, the weighted average number of shares on issue has been adjusted as if all dilutive 
share options were exercised. The number of shares that could have been issued upon the exercise 
of all dilutive share options less the number of shares that could have been issued at fair value 
(determined as the Company’s average share price for the financial year) for the same total proceeds 
is added to the denominator as the number of shares issued for no consideration. No adjustment is 
made to the net profit. 
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24. Earnings per share (continued) 
 

(b) Diluted earnings per share (continued) 

 
 Group 
 2021  2020 
    

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the Company (S$) 5,861,405  1,072,047 
    

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for basic 
earnings per share 40,867,766 

 
40,545,626 

Adjusted for share options 1,402,449  - 
 42,270,215  40,545,626 

    
Diluted earnings per share (Singapore cents per share) 13.87  2.64 

 
 
25. Significant related party transactions 
 

In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following 
transactions with related parties took place at terms agreed between the parties during the financial 
year: 
 

  Group  
  2021    2020  
  S$    S$  
    

Cost of lease sharing charged to related parties 221,283  291,340 
Admin handling expenses charged by related parties (234,000)  (185,000) 
Consultancy expense charged by related parties (224,000)  (24,000) 

 
   

Compensation of key management personnel 

  Group  

  2021    2020  
  S$    S$  
    

Salaries, fees and bonus 1,485,465  712,193 
CPF Contributions 67,097  62,947 
Employee Securities Share Plan 613,958  - 

 2,166,520  775,140 

 
 

26. Financial risk management  
 

Financial risk factors 
 

The Group’s activities expose it to market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), 
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management strategy seeks to minimise any adverse 
effects from the unpredictability of financial markets on the group’s financial performance.  
 
The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies and procedures for the management of these risks, 
which are executed by the Chief Financial Officer. The audit committee provides independent oversight 
to the effectiveness of the risk management process. 
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26. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(a) Market risk 

 
(i) Currency risk 

 
The Group operates in Asia with dominant operations in Singapore and Malaysia. Entities in the 
Group regularly transact in currencies other than their respective functional currencies (“foreign 
currencies”). 
 
Currency risk arises within entities in the Group when transactions are denominated in foreign 
currencies primarily Singapore Dollar (“SGD”), Malaysian Ringgit (“MYR”), Australian Dollar 
(“AUD”), United States Dollar (“USD”), Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”), New Taiwan Dollar (“NTD”), 
Thailand Baht (“THB”) and Hong Kong Dollar (“HKD”).  
 
In addition, the Group is exposed to currency translation risk on the net assets in foreign 
operations. Currency exposure to the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations in Malaysia, 
Taiwan and China are managed primarily through transactions denominated in the relevant 
foreign currencies.  
 
The Group’s currency exposure based on the information provided to key management is as 
follows: 
 
 MYR USD AUD NTD RMB HKD 
 S$ S$ S$ S$ S$ S$ 
At 31 March 2021       
Financial assets       
Cash and cash equivalents 6,627,759 327,790 11,839 328,136 297,811 - 
Trade and other receivables 103,533 - - 708,957 462 - 
Financial assets, at FVPL 187,544 3,250,055 27,213 - - 49,135 
Financial assets, at FVOCI 7,421 - - - - - 
 6,926,257 3,577,845 39,052 1,037,093 298,273 49,135 
       
Financial liabilities       
Trade and other payables (865,659) - (4,689) (76,872) - - 
Lease liabilities (97,946) - - (199,161) - - 
 (963,605) - (4,689) (276,033) - - 
       
Net financial assets 5,962,652 3,577,845 34,363 761,060 298,273 49,135 

       
Currency exposure of 

financial (liabilities) 
/assets net of those 
denominated in the 
respective entities’ 
functional currencies (76) 3,577,845 34,363 17,975 - 49,135 
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26. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(a) Market risk (continued) 
 
(i) Currency risk (continued)  

 
 MYR USD AUD NTD THB RMB 
 S$ S$ S$ S$ S$ S$ 
At 31 March 2020       
Financial assets       
Cash and cash equivalents 1,137,400 126,538 74,243 91,192 27,063 257,360 
Trade and other receivables 128,155 - - 379,781 - 61,026 
Financial assets, at FVPL 187,358 151,409 - - - - 
Financial assets, at FVOCI 7,443 - - - - - 
 1,460,356 277,947 74,243 470,973 27,063 318,386 
       
Financial liabilities       
Trade and other payables (245,077) (10,851) (5,561) (27,280) - (9,485) 
Lease liabilities (222,140) - - (107,918) (32,122) - 
 (467,217) (10,851) (5,561) (135,198) (32,122) (9,485) 
       
Net financial 

assets/(liabilities) 993,139 267,096 68,682 335,775 (5,059) 308,901 

       
Currency exposure of 

financial assets/ 
(liabilities) net of those 
denominated in the 
respective entities’ 
functional currencies - 267,096 66,317 12,385 - (4,216) 

 
The Company’s currency exposure based on the information provided to key management is as 
follows: 
 USD AUD 
 S$ S$ 
At 31 March 2021   
Financial assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 30,330 11,839 
   
Financial liabilities   
Trade and other payables - (4,689) 
   
Net financial assets 30,330 7,150 
   
Currency exposure of financial assets net of those 
   denominated in the respective entities’ functional currencies 30,330 7,150 
 
At 31 March 2020   
Financial assets   
Cash and cash equivalents 32,075 71,878 
   
Financial liabilities   
Trade and other payables - (5,561) 
   
Net financial assets 32,075 66,317 
   
Currency exposure of financial assets net of those 
   denominated in the respective entities’ functional currencies 32,075 66,317 
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26. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(a) Market risk (continued) 
 
(i) Currency risk (continued)  

 
If the AUD, USD, NTD, RMB and HKD change against the SGD by 17% (2020: 8%), 5% (2020: 5%), 
2% (2020: 7%), 2% (2020: 3%), 7% (2020: not applicable) respectively with all other variables 
including tax rate being held constant, the effects arising from the net financial asset that are 
exposed to currency risk will be as follows: 
 

 Increase / (Decrease) 
 Profit after tax 
 Group Company 
 2021 2020 2021 2020 
 S$ S$ S$ S$ 
     
AUD against SGD     
- Strengthened  4,849 4,403 1,009 4,403 
- Weakened  (4,849) (4,403) (1,009) (4,403) 
     
USD against SGD     
- Strengthened  148,481 11,084 1,259 1,331 
- Weakened  (148,481) (11,084) (1,259) (1,331) 
     
NTD against SGD     
- Strengthened  298 720 - - 
- Weakened  (298) (720) - - 
     
RMB against SGD     
- Strengthened  - (105) - - 
- Weakened - 105 - - 
     
HKD against SGD     
- Strengthened  2,855 - - - 
- Weakened  (2,855) - - - 

 
(ii) Price risk 

 
The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk arising from the investments held by the Group 
which are classified either as financial assets, at FVPL or FVOCI. These securities are listed in 
Singapore, Malaysia and the United States. To manage its price risk arising from investments in 
equity securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of the portfolio is done in 
accordance with the limits set by the Group.  
 
If prices for equity securities listed in Singapore, Malaysia, the United States, Australia and Hong 
Kong had changed by 49% (2020: 17%), 49% (2020: 17%), 69% (2020: 17%), 49% (2020: not 
applicable) and 49% (2020: not applicable) respectively with all other variables including tax rate 
being held constant, the effects on profit after tax and other comprehensive income would have 
been:  
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26. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(a) Market risk (continued) 
 

(ii) Price risk (continued) 
 

 Increase / (Decrease) 
 Profit after tax 
 2021 2020 
 

Profit after 
tax 

Other 
comprehensive 

income 
Profit after 

tax 

Other 
comprehensive 

income 
 S$ S$ S$ S$ 
Group     
Listed in Singapore     
- increased by 35,383 - 8,918 - 
- decreased by (35,383) - (8,918) - 
     
Listed in Malaysia     
- increased by 76,274 3,018 26,484 1,050 
- decreased by (76,274) (3,018) (26,484) (1,050) 
     
Listed in the United States     
- increased by 1,861,306 - 21,364 - 
- decreased by (1,861,036) - (21,364) - 
     
Listed in Australia     
- increased by 11,068 - - - 
- decreased by (11,068) - - - 
     
Listed in Hong Kong     
- increased by 19,983 - - - 
- decreased by (19,983) - - - 

 
(b) Credit risk 

 
Credit exposure to an individual counterparty is restricted by credit limits that are approved by the 
Board of Directors based on ongoing credit evaluations. The counterparty’s payment pattern and 
credit exposure are continuously monitored at the entity level by the respective management and at 
the Group level by the Executive Management. 
 
Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor 
failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group. The Group categorises a loan or receivable for 
write off when a debtor fails to make contractual payments greater than a year past due based on 
historical collection trend. Where loans or receivables have been written off, the company continues 
to engage in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivable due. Where recoveries are 
made, these are recognised in profit or loss. 

 
The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses prescribed by FRS 
109, which permits the use of the lifetime credit loss provision for all trade receivables.  

 
To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables, have been grouped based on shared credit 
risk characteristics and days past due. In calculating the expected credit loss rates, the Group 
considers historical loss rates for each category of customers, and adjusts for forward-looking 
macroeconomic data. 
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26. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 
 
The Group and Company uses four categories of internal credit risk rating for its financial assets at 
amortised costs. These four categories reflect the respective credit risk and how the loan loss 
provision is determined for each of those categories.  
 
A summary of assumptions underpinning the Group’s expected credit loss model is as follow: 

 
Group and 
Company’s category 
of internal credit 
rating 

Group and Company’s definition of category Basis for 
recognition of 
expected credit loss 
provision 

Performing Customers have a low risk of default and a strong capacity 
to meet contractual cash flows. 

12-month expected 
credit losses 

Underperforming Loans for which there is a significant increase in credit risk. 
As significant increase in credit risk is presumed if interest 
and/or principal repayments are 30 days past due. 

Lifetime expected 
credit losses 
 

Non-performing Interest and/or principal repayments are 60-365 days past 
due. 

Lifetime expected 
credit losses 

Write-off Interest and/or principal repayments are 365 days past due 
and there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. 

Asset is written off 

 
Movements in credit loss allowance for trade receivables are set out as follows:  

 
 Group  Company 

  2021    2020    2021    2020  
  S$    S$    S$    S$  

Balance at beginning of year 137,537  77,067  -  - 
(Reversal)/Charge for the year (32,731)  62,635  -  - 
Written off -  (2,165)  -  - 
Exchange differences (157)  -  -  - 
Balance at end of year (Note 9) 104,649  137,537  -  - 

 
The Group’s credit risk exposure in relation to trade receivables, under FRS 109 as at 31 March 2021 
are set out in the provision matrix as follows: 

  Past due  
 

Current 1-30 days 
31-60 
days 

61-90 
days > 90 days Total 

2021       
Expected loss rate 0% 0% 5% 10% 100%  
Gross carrying amount (S$) 278,522 4,049 300 - 104,634 387,505 
Credit loss allowance (S$) - - (15) - (104,634) (104,649) 
       
2020       
Expected loss rate 0% 0% 5% 10% 100%  
Gross carrying amount (S$) 255,975 26,221 12,977 26,488 134,174 455,835 
Credit loss allowance (S$) - - (714) (2,649) (134,174) (137,537) 
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26. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(c) Liquidity risk 
 

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents and the 
ability to close out market positions at a short notice. At the reporting date, assets held by the Group 
and the Company for managing liquidity risk included cash and short-term deposits as disclosed in 
Note 10.  
 
The table below analyses non-derivative financial liabilities of the Group and the Company into 
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period from the reporting date to the contractual 
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 
Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying amounts as the impact of discounting is not 
significant. 
 

 One year or 
less 

Two to five 
years 

 S$ S$ 
Group   
At 31 March 2021   
Trade and other payables 3,446,851 - 
Lease liabilities  816,163 67,686 
   
At 31 March 2020   
Trade and other payables 1,648,235 - 
Finance lease liabilities  1,176,581 68,630 

 

  One year or 
less  

  S$  
Company  

At 31 March 2021  
Trade and other payables 240,946 

  

At 31 March 2020  

Trade and other payables 90,811 

 
(d) Capital risk 
 

Management controls the capital of the Group in order to maintain a good debt to equity ratio, 
provide the shareholders with adequate returns and to ensure that the Group can fund its operations 
and continue as a going concern. 
 
The Group’s debt and capital includes ordinary share capital and financial liabilities, supported by 
financial assets. 
 
There are no externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
Management effectively manages the Group’s capital by assessing the Group’s financial risks and 
adjusting its capital structure in response to changes in these risks and in the market. These responses 
include the management of debt levels, distributions to shareholders and share issues. 
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26. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(e) Fair value measurements 
 
The table below presents assets and liabilities measured and carried at fair value and classified by 
level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy: 

 
(i) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1); 
 
(ii) inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) (Level 2); and 
 
(iii) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) 

(Level 3). 
  

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3 

 S$  S$  S$ 
Group      
As at 31 March 2021      
Financial assets:      
Financial assets, at FVPL (quoted) 3,600,947  -  - 
Financial assets, at FVOCI (quoted) 7,421  -  - 

 
     

As at 31 March 2020      

Financial assets:      

Financial assets, at FVPL (quoted) 402,305  -  - 

Financial assets, at FVOCI (quoted) 7,443           -                        -    

 
There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 during the year. 
 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as fair value through profit and 
loss and financial assets through other comprehensive income) is based on quoted market prices at 
the reporting date. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current 
bid price. These instruments are included in Level 1.  
 
The carrying amount less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to 
approximate their fair values.  
 

(f) Financial instruments by category  
 
  Group    Company  

  2021    2020    2021    2020  

  S$    S$    S$    S$  
        

Financial assets, at FVPL 3,600,947  402,305  -  - 
Financial assets, at FVOCI 7,421  7,443  -  - 
Financial assets at amortised cost 20,222,772  9,017,777  1,577,360  876,272 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (4,188,565)  (2,686,411)  (240,946)  (90,811) 
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27. Segment information 
 
For management purposes, the Group is organised into geographical business units based on the 
management reporting structure and organisational set-up, in line with the main business divisions 
driving the growth of the Group. Geographically, management manages and monitors the business in 
two primary geographic areas namely Singapore and Malaysia, where the Company and certain 
subsidiaries operate. Based on the management reporting structure, management reviews the business 
segments’ performance and to make strategic decisions. 

 
The segment under the reporting model are as follows: 
 
i. Financial Education: involved in providing financial education in the discipline of value investing 

and supporting a community of value investors from 29 cities globally under the “VI” brand. 
 

ii. Others: included fintech business and subsidiaries that provided financial education and training 
in Taiwan and China.  

 
Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making 
decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated 
based on operating profit or loss which in certain respects, as explained in the table below, is measured 
differently from operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.  
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27. 
Segm

ent inform
ation (continued) 

 Transfer prices betw
een operating segm

ents are on an arm
’s length basis in a m

anner sim
ilar to transactions w

ith third partie
s. 

 
 

Financial Education 
O

thers 
Corporate 

Total 
 

Singapore 
M

alaysia 
Total 

 
 

 
 

 S$  
 S$  

 S$  
 S$  

 S$  
 S$  

31 M
arch 2021 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Revenue 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Total revenue 

11,050,339 
10,562,204 

21,612,543 
5,637,511 

1,915,962 
29,166,016 

Inter-segm
ent 

(602,575) 
(256,334) 

(858,909) 
(430,484) 

(1,915,962) 
(3,205,355) 

Revenue from
 external custom

ers 
10,447,764 

10,305,870 
20,753,634 

5,207,027 
- 

25,960,661 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Results: 

 
 

 
 

 
 

D
epreciation and am

ortisation 
1,173,908 

292,520 
1,466,428 

478,003 
- 

1,944,431 
Segm

ent profit/(loss) 
4,053,768 

1,561,815 
5,615,583 

970,386 
(90,364) 

6,495,605 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Assets: 
 

 
 

 
 

 
A

dditions to property, plant and equipm
ent 

1,175,955 
111,140 

1,287,095 
256,591 

- 
1,543,686 

A
dditions to intangible assets 

- 
- 

- 
673,096 

- 
673,096 

Segm
ent asset 

13,127,341 
6,122,986 

19,250,327 
5,833,358 

1,873,826 
26,957,511 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Liabilities: 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Segm
ent liabilities 

(5,460,385) 
(4,284,622) 

(9,745,007) 
(4,683,411) 

(240,946) 
(14,669,364) 
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27. 
Segm

ent inform
ation (continued) 

 

 
Financial Education 

O
thers 

Corporate 
Total 

 
Singapore 

M
alaysia 

Total 
 

 
 

 
 S$  

 S$  
 S$  

 S$  
 S$  

 S$  
31 M

arch 2020 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Revenue 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Total revenue 

7,274,355 
3,285,799 

10,560,154 
758,717 

216,000 
11,534,871 

Inter-segm
ent 

(389,704) 
(69,816) 

(459,520) 
- 

(216,000) 
(675,520) 

Revenue from
 external custom

ers 
6,884,651 

3,215,983 
10,100,634 

758,717 
- 

10,859,351 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Results: 
 

 
 

 
 

 
D

epreciation and am
ortisation 

(1,209,919) 
(286,248) 

(1,496,167) 
(296,601) 

- 
(1,792,768) 

Share of result of associated com
panies 

(135,939) 
- 

(135,939) 
- 

- 
(135,939) 

Segm
ent profit/(loss) 

1,827,584 
244,412 

2,071,996 
(861,872) 

(430,703) 
779,421 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Assets: 

 
 

 
 

 
 

A
dditions to plant and equipm

ent 
25,797 

67,814 
93,611 

75,204 
- 

168,815 
A

dditions to intangible assets 
- 

- 
- 

197,364 
- 

197,364 
Segm

ent asset 
7,013,434 

1,924,349 
8,937,783 

1,877,826 
1,160,458 

11,976,067 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Liabilities: 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Segm

ent liabilities 
(3,577,254) 

(1,617,795) 
(5,195,049) 

(1,530,596) 
(103,054) 

(6,828,699) 
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28. New or revised accounting standards and interpretations 
 

Below are the mandatory standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that have 
been published, and are relevant for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 
and which the Group has not early adopted. 
 
Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or 
Non-current (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023) 
 
The narrow-scope amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements clarify that liabilities are 
classified as either current or non-current, depending on the rights that exist at the end of the reporting 
period. Classification is unaffected by the expectations of the entity or events after the reporting date 
(e.g. the receipt of a waver or a breach of covenant). The amendments also clarify what FRS 1 means 
when it refers to the ‘settlement’ of a liability. The amendments could affect the classification of liabilities, 
particularly for entities that previously considered management’s intentions to determine classification 
and for some liabilities that can be converted into equity. The Group does not expect any significant 
impact arising from applying these amendments. 
 
Amendments to FRS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use (effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022) 
 
The amendment to FRS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment (PP&E) prohibits an entity from deducting from 
the cost of an item of PP&E any proceeds received from selling items produced while the entity is 
preparing the asset for its intended use. It also clarifies that an entity is ‘testing whether the asset is 
functioning properly’ when it assesses the technical and physical performance of the asset. The financial 
performance of the asset is not relevant to this assessment. 
 
Entities must disclose separately the amounts of proceeds and costs relating to items produced that are 
not an output of the entity’s ordinary activities. The Group does not expect any significant impact arising 
from applying these amendments. 
 
 

29. Authorisation of financial statements for issue 
 

The financial statements for the financial year ended 31 March 2021 were authorised for issue by the 
Board of Directors on the date of the Directors' Statement. 
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